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Let Peace Begin with Me 

In the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Spirit, Amen 

Leader: Compassionate God, as this liturgical year draws closer to its end, you ask us to reflect 

on the end times and on how our lives may be judged in accordance with your will and your 

word.  Help us to be honest with ourselves Lord, and admit there are times when we could 

make more of an effort – times when we could listen instead of insist on being heard, times 

when we could look harder for the face of Christ in our neighbour instead of shrugging them 

off as an inconvenience. Help us to walk our talk, Amen. 

A Reading from Paul’s Letter to the Ephesians (4:1-7, 11-16 ) 

Brothers and sisters: I, a prisoner for the Lord, urge you to live in a manner worthy of the call 

you have received, with all humility and gentleness, with patience, bearing with one another 

through love, striving to preserve the unity of the spirit through the bond of peace: one Body 

and one Spirit, as you were also called to the one hope of your call; one Lord, one faith, one 

baptism; one God and Father of all, who is over all and through all and in all. But grace was 

given to each of us according to the measure of Christ’s gift.   The Word of the Lord.  Thanks be 

to God! 

Reflection: 

We live in a broken, messy and violent world. Most people believe that peace will 

automatically happen. That it will just materialize. The truth is that without active participation 

and choosing to lead by example, peace will not make its way into our relationships, 

communities or spread out into the world. 

The song, “Let there be peace on earth and let it begin with me,” is most fitting for the season. 

If we want peace, it must begin with me. Demonstrate the peace from within and send it into 

the world. 

If we are not at peace ourselves then we need to find our inner peace. Ask God for it. To have 

peace in our world, we need to make peace. Jesus, said, “Blessed are the peacemakers.” (by Pablo 

Diaz Posted in Power of Prayer, Dec 18, 2014 https://www.guideposts.org/faith-and-prayer/prayer-stories/power-of-prayer/let-peace-begin-with-

me)  
Let us take a moment to call to mind those things we are carrying around in our hearts that 

may prevent us from being God’s instrument of peace – our worries, struggles, and conflicts; 

our personal agendas, our pride……let us ask God to help us remove these barriers so that we 

can truly be instruments of God’s will. 
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Let us pray: 

For our lack of forgiveness, openness, sensitivity, God forgive us. 

For our failings in community, our lack of understanding, We ask your mercy. 

For our tendency to see more fault in others than in ourselves, God forgive us. 

For the times we were too eager to be better than others, We ask your mercy. 

For the times when we don’t really listen, and when we are too quick to act from motives 

other than love, God forgive us. 

 

All:  Lord, make us instruments of peace on earth.  

Where there is hatred, let us sow love.  

Where there is injury, pardon.  

Where there is discord, unity.  

Where there is doubt, faith.  

Where there is error, truth.  

Where there is despair, hope.  

Where there is sadness, joy.  

Where there is darkness, light.  

O Divine Ruler, grant that we may not so much seek  

To be consoled, as to console,  

To be understood, as to understand,  

To be loved, as to love. Amen. 
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To whom it may concern. 
  
I take this opportunity to thank you for working towards a holistic education for Canada.  
 
We have recently immigrated to Canada and have finally found our bearings and have chosen 
Milton as our place to set up our home,  through our peers and internet research we have 
heard how well and how much Milton has to offer to new families in terms of education, 
recreation, development, positive family support etc.    
 
My daughter Thea Marie Noronha was enrolled at Brisdale Public School-Brampton for three 
weeks and was chosen for the French Emmersion Programme, however as we have moved we 
have had to pull her out. I am now looking for admission for my daughter for Grade 1 at St. Benedicts-

French Immersion Programme. However I was disheartened to know that my daughter would not 
be able to get admission at St Benedict’s due to the close to 100 child wait list. I was told this is 
due to the number of catholic schools offering the french immersion programme has been 
pulled off the list.  
 
I understand every system has it’s own set of limitations but if there is a demand or need for 
such a large number of seats it seems worthwhile for additional resources to be considered.  
  
I am sure there is the bigger picture with its own set of rule and policies that comes into play 
but I humbly request and would greatly appreciate if my daughter’s candidature is considered 
or if I could be guided to other alternatives. 
 
I truly believe in the Canadian system, where every child is given the opportunity to be the best 
they can be. I look forward to hearing from you. 
 
Regards 
Elizabeth Noronha 
647-624-6150 
 

Hi all,  

I have completed the webinar and one thing I noticed is the fact that we are not exploring outside ot 

Canada options.  

One option could be to partner with Canada's Ministry of Education and the Immigration Ministry and 

other schools, not only Catholic but Public as well, as they have the same French staff concerns as our 

Catholic Board; with the objctive to create an immigration program specially for French Teachers.  

For example as part some of our agreements with other countries, we could recruit French Teachers 

from Latin countries as Mexico, that they know French, I learned French back home in Mexico, and I 

know we have a lot of qualified Teachers that could have the skillset needed and could apply for a 

working visa for a period of time or resident status to fill that gap.  

APPENDIX C
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I know we are doing similar programs for other fields as IT and it has been quite successful. People from 

other countries are willing to come and work in this country specially if we provide those alternatives. 

Regarding the Catholic board, we could suggest some specific locations as for example I know 

thatMexico is a Catholic country and most people will be Catholic as well. 

Have we considered those alternatives? This may help to fill the need for either program we decide to 

keep as the need for French teachers will be there from Catholic and Public schools regardless; and Our 

government should support our efforts to keep the French language. 

This is just a suggestion, hoping this may help.  

Best Regards, 

Maria Landa 

Good morning, 
 
I have watched the video and have completed the survey.  
 
As a parent of a child who just started the Early French Immersion program in Grade 1, I am 
worried about the lack of staff available and am now left wondering about the quality of 
education he will be getting until grade 8. 
 
One thing the Board should consider is the requirement of all teachers being Catholic. In 
the French Immersion program, Religion is taught in English so the requirement that the French 
teachers be Catholic doesn't make sense. There are definitely teachers available who may not 
be Catholic, but are very qualified French teachers who can fill the gap the board is facing. 
Something that should be considered before getting rid of the program altogether.  
 
Christina Caldeira 
 

I just finished watching the webinar and taking the survey.  I wanted to communicate that I don't 

think your survey provides a fair opportunity for feedback.  It forces your audience to select one 

program, but doesn't allow them to voice their opinion if they disagree with the ad hoc 

committee's recommendation.   

 

I think the purpose of the ad hoc committee is to study the information and provide a 

recommendation to the parents, however prior to it going to the board we should ask ourselves 

whether this recommendation is representative of the parents voice.  Which I personally don't 

think it is. 

 

I would like an opportunity to share my opinion in a survey that asks whether parents still want 

to move forward with the two programs in light of the information provided. 

 

Regards 

Daniele Ingleton  
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Dear Parents and Educators: 

Further to the e-mail and subsequent survey disseminated on Thursday, October 4th and Tuesday, 

October 10th, I humbly ask the HCDSB and the French Program Review Committee to keep the Early 

French Immersion Program.  The benefits of having young children (Grade 1 and younger) in the EFI 

program has been proven through studies time and time again.  

If the Halton Catholic District School Board strengthens its Early French Immersion Program and Core 

French (and phased out the Extended French Program), the demand and supply of FSL educators (and 

resources) can be managed more effectively.  Please look into how the Hamilton-Wentworth Catholic 

School Board and neighbouring Catholic school boards have successfully sustained their EFI program/s 

for several years, despite the current shortage of FSL Educators.  Please do not make it difficult for 

Halton parents to choose between pursuing a catholic education vs. access to early french immersion via 

the public school system for their children.   Please consider sharing resources and collaborating with 

universities and surrounding school boards if this is the only way to mitigate the supply needs of FSL 

teachers in our school board.  

Please think of the younger children who would lose the opportunity to be in the EFI program with their 

older siblings.  We humbly ask that you please consider their future as well. 

Thank you for your time. 

Regards, 

Vivien Rigodon-Lasam 

Hello, 
 
Just a quick input. 
 
I( and many other parents I spoke with) allways believed that the french imersion program 
starts to early, since in grade 1, most of the students are not able to read yet. 
From my point of view, french language( French Extended or Imersion, you name it since this is 
the job of the specialists on the matter to decide...:) should start in grade 3, when most of the 
children are already able to read/write in English( which is the first oficial language in Ontario, 
isn't it??) 
Why confusing children with two languages from grade 1???? 
 
Thanks for "listening", 

 
Anca Popa, OCT 
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Hello, 

 

I like others, took the survey.  Yet the whole process is unclear.   

 

The options were to vote to keep the grade one early program OR the grade five Immersion 

program.  As a parent with two children already in grades one and three, I obviously voted to 

keep the immersion program.  

 

Are my children now deprived of French altogether?  

 

There is not enough information regarding the outcome of voting one way or the other.   

 

I'm sure parents would be very happy with keeping the EARLY program if their kids were still 

eligible to enter it.   

 

What happens to kids who are past grade one? 

 

Candice Ferns-Dajnowiec  

 

Hi there, 

My husband and I are reading over the survey results from the French Immersion Ad Hoc Committee 

and have a question for you. 

It appears that the board is considering getting rid of one of the two French Immersion options in the 

HCDSB.  We are glad to see that Early Immersion seems to be the preferred option.  However, we have 3 

daughters in the school system, in grades SK, 2 and 4.  We had hoped they would all have access to 

French Immersion at some point in their education.   

Understanding that you would likely phase out Extended French and phase in Early Immersion, is it 

possible that there will be a few years where students will not have access to either program?  We are 

concerned that our kids will be in this boat. 

We understand that the Review is still in the early phases, but would appreciate any guidance you could 

give on this matter. 

Thanks, 

Liz and Marcel Guay 

Good morning, 

I am not a teacher, I am a parent of a child who attended St. Gabriel’s here in Burlington from Grade 5 to 

Grade 8.  I’m telling you this because my review will not be proper, logistical, or in any way considered 

perfectly worded.  I am telling you this in plain terms with no frills. 

My school trustee was very helpful over the last few years that my son attended St. Gabriel’s in trying to 

make accommodations for us.  The problem I had as well as some other parents and children that I know 

who also attended St. Gabriel’s at that time was how the children were treated.  I believe that my sons 
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lack of confidence and  behavioral issues stem largely from how he was made to feel by his teachers.  My 

son did not tell me until grade 8 which is when I believe he figured out that how he was being treated was 

not normal. 

He was made to fee not “worthy” of being there.  He was continually told over and over that each grade 

was going to be much harder and he should really consider whether he should to go forward. This 

happened each year, and each year he would make the decision himself to try again and try harder.  He 

had the same teacher for almost 3 years but she was off for maternity leave in between.  He felt that they 

wanted to give the spot that he had to someone else who deserved it or could get better grades.  Because 

this is what he was told.  He pulled out of the French program in grade 8 but was permitted to continue 

at the same school in the English program so that he could graduate with his classmates. 

So basically, he was mistreated, made to feel insufficient, inferior, and put down by his teachers!!!!! 

Since then he has developed O.D.D. Oppositional Defiance Disorder which we feel again is largely due to 

the misconduct that he endured at St. Gabriel’s.  One day I asked my son, “what’s the real reason your 

always so angry with people?” He told us, “I had to learn to not give crap about anyone or anything.  I was 

hurt too often and made to feel like an idiot, so I just stopped caring about anything.”                             This 

broke my heart.            We are not able to even compliment him on anything.  If we tell him he did a good 

job, he shuns away from us and tells us not to say that.  He still doesn’t believe that he’s worthy of doing 

well and this has affected every aspect of his life.  He is #5 in Canada, and # 2 in Ontario in his sport and 

he can’t even take a compliment of “Way to go!!”  or “You did awesome!”   

These teachers had no idea the impact of what these kids were enduring due to what I can only assume 

was due to them not meeting a quota of some sort as far as passing grades in the French Immersion 

program.  If the kids didn’t do well, it would reflect on the school and affect the French program so possibly 

their jobs and the money that was going to that school or the program.  So instead they would do 

everything they could to encourage the ones who didn’t do well to drop out.  This is exactly what was 

happening at St. Gabriel’s.  This is what happened to my son.  I know of others who are also gathering 

information and statistics to compile against St. Gabriel’s for how their children were treated over the 

same four years that my son attended.  My son excelled in French in grade 9 at Notre Dame.  He would 

have done well in the French Immersion, had he been given the opportunity to succeed but this was not 

the case at St. Gabriel’s. 

In my opinion, French speaking should start earlier than grade 5 so that there is not as much pressure on 

the teachers to produce such “gifted” children in such a short time.  Because the gifted would be the only 

ones to actually succeed such a program, especially with all of the peer pressure from their teachers. 

My son is now in grade 11.  He attends psychological counselling twice a month to help him with his 

confidence, and to reduce some of the Oppositional mannerisms that he has developed.  We have 2 

boys.  The other started French immersion in grade 5 as well at St. Gabriel’s and after 2 months he didn’t 

want to go anymore.  We removed him from the program and he continues to do well at Holy Rosary 

with no behavior issues of any kind and he will begin high school next year at Assumption.  There is so 

much more to be fixed with our French immersion program but that school in particular needs to be 

investigated. 

I know of others who would be happy to add to this if you would like.  Whose children also attended St. 

Gabriel’s who also felt this way. 
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From: Nicole Ruso <ruso.nicole@gmail.com> 

Date: October 17, 2017 at 11:10:05 PM EDT 

To: michaelj@hcdsb.org 

Subject: French Program Review - Feedback on Ad Hoc Committee's Recommendation  

Dear Jane,  

 

I am writing regarding concerns with the recommendation being presented to the HCDSB by the 

Board’s French Ad Hoc Committee, as outlined in the Webinar sent to parents last week. The Ad 

Hoc Committee is recommending the HCDSB eliminate the Early French Immersion (EFI) 

(Grade 1) pilot program. 

 

My oldest son is in Junior Kindergarten and currently attends St. Joseph Catholic Elementary 

school. Our experience with his teachers, the administration, and the programming has been 

extremely positive, however my husband and I have become concerned with the position of the 

HCDSB when it comes to early French language education. After viewing the Webinar I was 

disappointed to see that the Ad Hoc Committee came to its conclusion to eliminate the EFI 

program in favour of continuing with its existing Extended French program, which begins in 

Grade 5. This was confusing as the Ad Hoc Committee was established with a very clear 

mandate: To prepare a multi-year plan for an EFI program to address and resolve all on-going 

issues presented by senior staff, and to make recommendations to Trustees with a view to 

moving the EFI program from a pilot to a sustainable and permanent program. It appears as 

though the Ad Hoc Committee has overlooked their own mandate, and, more importantly, that it 

is the primary responsibility of school boards to make decisions from the perspective of student 

achievement, as set out in the Education Act. Eliminating, and not expanding, the EFI program 

in Halton Region is completely counterintuitive to the breadth of widely available research 

supporting the benefits of early language learning, and would deprive children in Catholic 

schools in Halton region equal access to the best possible education. 

 

It seems that the Ad Hoc Committee has completely ignored the well-documented science 

behind the benefits of early introduction to secondary languages. Additionally, neighbouring 

Catholic boards, such as the TCDSB and HWCDSB, have successfully been offering Early 

French Immersion programs beginning in Senior Kindergarten for decades. It would be safe to 

assume all other Ontario Catholic boards are facing the exact same staffing concerns the Ad Hoc 

Committee determined to be the driver of their decision to recommend dismantling the EFI 

program in the HCDSB. Were other boards consulted as part of this committee’s investigative 

process? 

 

My expectation from the HCDSB is that our children will have the same, if not better, 

opportunities that other children across the province and country have to learn French. I strongly 

urge you to consider voting against the French Ad Hoc Committee’s recommendation, and 

support expanding the EFI program to all Catholic Elementary schools in Halton to give 

HCDSB children the highest possible academic achievement in French. Our family is 

hopeful that the HCDSB will not be putting parents in the position of having to consider 

enrolling our children in public schools in order to access the level of French they have the right 

to.  

 

Thank you sincerely for taking the time to read through my concerns. I welcome further 

discussion as this matter is extremely important to my family and our community. 
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From: Mary Cruden <mcruden@on.cpf.ca> 
Sent: 18 October 2017 16:38 
To: Barbul, Anamaria; Danko, Anthony; Quinn, Anthony; Iantomasi, Arlene; Atrach, Christina; Rabenda, 
Diane; Karabela, Helena; Schwecht, Ingrid; Michael, Jane; Rowe, Mark; Marai, Paul; Trites, Susan 
Cc: Javier Rubatto; Betty Gormley; Rosemary Sutherland 
Subject: Intro - some docs re: French Review  
  
Dear Trustees, 
We met last year, I am the volunteer President of the Ontario branch of Canadian 
Parents for French. I would like to introduce you to Javier Rubatto, HCDSB parent 
and the volunteer President of our Halton Catholic Chapter (cc'd).  
 
Our mission at Canadian Parents for French is to support opportunities for youth to 
learn French. We are informed by research in French Second Language education. We 
have branches across Canada and a national office in Ottawa.  We are funded by 
Canadian Heritage and are in partnership with the Ministry of Education, Faculties of 
Education and School Boards on projects that support French Second Language 
learners and their families.  
 
Our Canadian Parents for French members and local/Ontario leadership have been 
following the French review since its inception last year. We continue to be 
disappointed that we were not included in the committee nor invited to present. We 
had hoped to help you develop solutions to support the stated purpose of the review 
and would welcome any opportunity to do so now. We have watched the webinar and 
read the report with great interest. Attached and available at the link below  are some 
documents from our website sourced from EDU/Boards that are relevant to your 
deliberations:  
 
https://on.cpf.ca/research-advocacy/advocacy/the-state-of-fsl-education-in-ontario/  
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Early French Immersion (FI) Ontario English School Boards 

JK-3 : % of French Daily

JK-12 French Immersion Enrolment, JK-12 Total Enrolment all Ontario Boards (2013-2014)

School Board
JK-12 FI 

Enrolment

JK-12 FI % of 

Total Board 

Enrolment

Total Board 

Enrolment
Notes

English Boards JK SK 1 2 3

Rainbow DSB 100 100 100 100 85 3092 23 13727

Limestone DSB 100 100 100 100 85 2387 12 20636

Upper Grand DSB 100 100 100 100 80 4180 12 33789

Lambton Kent DSB 100 100 100 100 50 2001 9 22903

DSB Ontario North East 100 100 100 100 85 1992 25 7644

Grand Erie DSB 100 100 100 80 80 1378 5 27344

Windsor-Essex Catholic DSB 100 100 100 80 80 1052 5 21888

Greater Essex County DSB 100 100 100 75 75 4024 11 36114

Keewatin-Patricia DSB 100 100 80 80 60 68 1 5034

Renfrew County DSB 90 90 90 90 90 638 7 9495 FI enrolment includes G5 entry

Bluewater DSB 90 90 90 90 80 1393 8 16826

Near North DSB 90 90 90 90 75 1087 11 10250

Northeastern Catholic DSB 90 90 90 90 50 586 26 2289

Brant Haldimand Norfolk CDSB 90 90 90 80 70 201 2 9804

Sudbury Catholic DSB 90 90 77 77 65 1581 25 6260

Bruce-Grey Catholic DSB 90 90 75 75 75 722 19 3854

Kenora Catholic DSB 88 88 88 75 75 447 29 1566

London District Catholic SB 80 80 80 80 80 1296 7 19172

St. Clair Catholic DSB 80 80 80 80 70 835 9 8957

28960 10 277552

Nipissing-Parry Sound Catholic DSB 50 50 90 90 70 676 23 2908

Upper Canada DSB 50 50 50 50 50 7864 28 28363

Catholic DSB of Eastern Ontario 50 50 50 50 50 2604 13 20542 FI enrolment includes G5 entry

Algonquin & Lakeshore Catholic DSB 50 50 50 50 50 1167 10 11875

Huron-Superior Catholic DSB 50 50 50 50 50 1074 22 4941

13385 20 68629

Ottawa Catholic School Board 50 50 13909 35 39720 G1-3: 25%, FI enrolment includes G4 entry

Toronto DSB 100 100 100 100 18180 7 252615 FI enrolment includes G4 entry

Algoma DSB 100 100 100 100 1302 13 10271

Toronto Catholic DSB 100 100 100 75 4109 5 91115

Lakehead DSB 100 100 100 75 892 9 9499

Trillium Lakelands DSB 100 100 90 80 1523 9 17323

Kawartha Pine Ridge DSB 100 100 80 80 3451 10 33250

Thunder Bay Catholic DSB 100 90 90 70 1088 14 7960

Hamilton-Wentworth Catholic DSB 100 50 50 50 1115 4 29654

PVNC Catholic DSB 90 90 90 65 1840 13 14277

Northwest Catholic DSB 75 75 75 50 176 13 1328

Thames Valley DSB 70 70 70 70 5195 7 75106

Ottawa-Carleton DSB 50 100 80 80 27954 39 72283 FI enrolment includes G4 entry

Niagara Catholic DSB 50 50 50 50 122 1 22633 New-adding higher grades year by year

66947 11 637314

York Region DSB 100 100 100 12434 10 121087

Durham DSB 100 100 100 6652 10 69306

Simcoe County DSB 100 100 90 440 1 51708 New-adding year by year

Hamilton-Wentworth DSB 100 85 85 3160 6 50624 SK-5 (2013-14), G1-5 (2014-15)

DSB of Niagara 100 2373 6 37118 Transitioning from G4 entry to G1

Durham Catholic DSB 90 90 90 1713 8 22324

Dufferin-Peel Catholic DSB 90 70 70 1318 2 83488

Huron-Perth Catholic DSB 90 90 90 479 11 4498

York Catholic DSB 85 85 85 1276 2 55682

29845 6 495835

Peel DSB 50 50 50 14315 9 154666

Halton DSB 50 50 50 12229 20 61362

Waterloo Region DSB 50 50 50 5259 8 62737

Avon Maitland DSB 50 50 50 426 3 16381

Halton Catholic DSB 50 50 50 154 0 31297 G1 pilot at 4 schools in Sept 2015

Waterloo Catholic DSB 50 50 50 21508 G1 pilot at 3 schools in Sept 2015

32383 9 347951

% of French Daily in Early French Immersion

Sources: ONSYS, Board Websites (Aug 2015), Telephone Canvass of Boards (Aug 2013) Compiled by CPF Ontario     2/5/2016                   1      
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Early French Immersion (FI) Ontario English School Boards 

JK-3 : % of French Daily

JK-12 French Immersion Enrolment, JK-12 Total Enrolment all Ontario Boards (2013-2014)

School Board
JK-12 FI 

Enrolment

JK-12 FI % of 

Total Board 

Enrolment

Total Board 

Enrolment
Notes% of French Daily in Early French Immersion

Hastings & Prince Edward DSB 710 5 15557 G4 entry only

Rainy River DSB 29 1 2946 Secondary FI

Renfrew County Catholic DSB 4694

Simcoe Muskoka Catholic DSB 20670 Explored Early FI in 2013

Superior North Catholic DSB 747

Superior-Greenstone DSB 1645

Wellington Catholic DSB 8129

739 1 54388

French Boards 100% French until Core English starts in G4

CS Viamonde 10167

CSD du Grand Nord de l'Ontario 2271

CSD du Nord-Est de l'Ontario 2054

CSDC Centre-Sud 15073

CSDC Franco-Nord 2876

CSDC de l'Est ontarien 10517

CSDC des Aurores boréales 737

CSDC des Grandes Rivières 6297

CSDC du Centre-Est de l'Ontario 21149

CSDC du Nouvel-Ontario 6972

Conseil scolaire catholique Providence 9134

CÉP de l'Est de l'Ontario 13294

100541

Sources: ONSYS, Board Websites (Aug 2015), Telephone Canvass of Boards (Aug 2013) Compiled by CPF Ontario     2/5/2016                   2      
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Hours of French Instruction in French Second Language and French First Language programs in Ontario 

 

Number of Credits at the Secondary Level  (where French is the language of 

instruction)  

 

Sources of data: Ontario Ministry of Education FSL Curriculum Documents and the Technical Paper on 

Funding Grants 2015-2016. 

Hours of Instruction per program: Core (600), Intensive Core (953), Extended French (1260), French 

Immersion 50/50 (3800), Early Total Immersion (6710), French First Language (8867). 
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ELEMENTARY Student Enrolment in French as Second Language Programs in English School Boards, by Program Type, 2015-2016

Board 

Number Board Name Board Type FSL - Core

FSL - 

Extended

FSL - 

Immersion Total FSL 

General 

Enrolment

Immersion as a 

Percent of General 

Elementary 

Enrolment in 

English Boards

B28010 Algoma DSB Public 4,034                1,152              5,186                   6,388                18.03%

B67202 Algonquin and Lakeshore CDSB Roman Catholic 5,348                1,163              6,511                   7,724                15.06%

B66010 Avon Maitland DSB Public 4,903                374                 5,277                   10,011              3.74%

B66001 Bluewater DSB Public 4,882                1,396              6,278                   11,280              12.38%

B67164 Brant Haldimand Norfolk CDSB Roman Catholic 4,130                219                 4,349                   6,305                3.47%

B67008 Bruce-Grey CDSB Roman Catholic 1,829                781                 2,610                   2,611                29.91%

B67172 CDSB of Eastern Ontario Roman Catholic 4,159                70                     3,952              8,181                   8,536                46.30%

B66150 DSB Niagara Public 10,671              2,653              13,324                 24,215              10.96%

B28002 DSB Ontario North East Public 2,133                1,710              3,843                   4,200                40.71%

B67083 Dufferin-Peel CDSB Roman Catholic 23,361              1,583                1,789              26,733                 49,554              3.61%

B67105 Durham CDSB Roman Catholic 6,292                134                   1,971              8,397                   14,445              13.64%

B66060 Durham DSB Public 20,626              6,242              26,868                 47,832              13.05%

B66168 Grand Erie DSB Public 8,294                1,499              9,793                   17,540              8.55%

B66028 Greater Essex County DSB Public 10,172              4,152              14,324                 23,454              17.70%

B67113 Halton CDSB Roman Catholic 9,598                1,268                480                 11,346                 21,949              2.19%

B66133 Halton DSB Public 16,908              10,979            27,887                 44,051              24.92%

B67121 Hamilton-Wentworth CDSB Roman Catholic 8,907                <10 1,069              9,976                   18,521              5.77%

B66141 Hamilton-Wentworth DSB Public 15,300              3,091              18,391                 34,176              9.04%

B66222 Hastings & Prince Edward DSB Public 4,351                97                     612                 5,060                   10,130              6.04%

B67016 Huron Perth CDSB Roman Catholic 2,090                357                 2,447                   3,062                11.66%

B29025 Huron-Superior CDSB Roman Catholic 1,867                1,060              2,927                   3,561                29.77%

B66079 Kawartha Pine Ridge DSB Public 8,766                426                   3,149              12,341                 21,768              14.47%

B28045 Keewatin-Patricia DSB Public 937                   38                     82                   1,057                   2,795                2.93%

B29050 Kenora CDSB Roman Catholic 448                   363                 811                       1,146                31.68%

B28061 Lakehead DSB Public 2,471                802                 3,273                   5,952                13.47%

B66036 Lambton Kent DSB Public 10,062              1,786              11,848                 14,410              12.39%

B66206 Limestone DSB Public 8,675                2,328              11,003                 13,065              17.82%

B67032 London District Catholic School Board Roman Catholic 8,878                1,275              10,153                 12,086              10.55%

B15199 Moose Factory Island DSAB Public 311                   0.00%

B15202 Moosonee DSAB Public 112                   <10 112                       246                   0.00%

B28037 Near North DSB Public 4,366                181                   1,187              5,734                   6,675                17.78%

B67156 Niagara CDSB Roman Catholic 11,739              80                     290                 12,109                 14,795              1.96%

B29017 Nipissing-Parry Sound CDSB Roman Catholic 901                   71                     567                 1,539                   1,890                30.00%

B29009 Northeastern CDSB Roman Catholic 1,055                34                     426                 1,515                   1,761                24.19%

B29041 Northwest CDSB Roman Catholic 405                   252                 657                       1,289                19.55%

B67180 Ottawa CDSB Roman Catholic 2,838                10,793              13,015            26,646                 27,033              48.14%

B66184 Ottawa-Carleton DSB Public 21,692              25,113            46,805                 47,519              52.85%

B66125 Peel DSB Public 48,555              579                   14,798            63,932                 111,404            13.28%

B79910 Penetanguishene PSSB Public 168                   168                       236                   0.00%

B67067 Peterborough Victoria Northum Clarington CDSBRoman Catholic 4,444                1,651              6,095                   10,008              16.50%

Tab 6A Enrl Elem FSL by Brd 15-16 Sup | Student Enrolment in FSL Elem Page 1 of 2
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Board 

Number Board Name Board Type FSL - Core

FSL - 

Extended

FSL - 

Immersion Total FSL 

General 

Enrolment

Immersion as a 

Percent of General 

Elementary 

Enrolment in 

English Boards

B28029 Rainbow DSB Public 2,583                2,554              5,137                   8,426                30.31%

B28053 Rainy River DSB Public 635                   635                       1,743                0.00%

B67199 Renfrew County CDSB Roman Catholic 2,835                668                   3,503                   3,541                0.00%

B66214 Renfrew County DSB Public 4,951                111                   799                 5,861                   5,897                13.55%

B66109 Simcoe County DSB Public 16,004              1,758                1,233              18,995                 35,300              3.49%

B67091 Simcoe Muskoka CDSB Roman Catholic 11,164              11,164                 13,691              0.00%

B67040 St Clair CDSB Roman Catholic 5,327                871                 6,198                   6,239                13.96%

B29033 Sudbury CDSB Roman Catholic 1,332                1,374              2,706                   4,019                34.19%

B29076 Superior North CDSB Roman Catholic 531                   531                       734                   0.00%

B28070 Superior-Greenstone DSB Public 305                   305                       766                   0.00%

B66044 Thames Valley DSB Public 22,571              4,736              27,307                 50,887              9.31%

B29068 Thunder Bay CDSB Roman Catholic 2,013                1,010              3,023                   5,558                18.17%

B67059 Toronto CDSB Roman Catholic 45,096              4,304              49,400                 60,308              7.14%

B66052 Toronto DSB Public 67,502              4,993                17,271            89,766                 169,855            10.17%

B66087 Trillium Lakelands DSB Public 4,512                1,424              5,936                   10,674              13.34%

B66192 Upper Canada DSB Public 9,288                8,273              17,561                 17,595              47.02%

B66117 Upper Grand DSB Public 9,484                4,330              13,814                 22,513              19.23%

B67148 Waterloo CDSB Roman Catholic 7,525                53                   7,578                   14,730              0.36%

B66176 Waterloo Region DSB Public 27,121              6,448              33,569                 42,356              15.22%

B67130 Wellington CDSB Roman Catholic 2,909                2,909                   5,466                0.00%

B67024 Windsor-Essex CDSB Roman Catholic 6,932                996                 7,928                   13,181              7.56%

B67075 York CDSB Roman Catholic 28,193              2,213              30,406                 36,788              6.02%

B66095 York Region DSB Public 37,054              11,708            48,762                 83,750              13.98%

Total 622,234         22,886           183,382       828,502            1,277,951       14.35%

Source: As reported by school boards in the Ontario School Information System (OnSIS), 2015-2016.

Report Criteria:

Data Include public and Roman Catholic English language elementary schools.

Data exclude private schools, publicly funded hospital and provincial schools, care and/or treatment, custody and correctional (CTCC) facilities, summer, night and adult continuing education day schools.

Small cells have been suppressed, as such:

Where fewer than 10 students are in a given category, the data is depicted with '<10'.  

Usage Restrictions: 

The report may not be published or used in any way that could lead to the identification of an individual.

The report may not be used for any purposes other than stated in the original request.
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Good morning: I listened with great interest to the presentation by the committee looking into 

the French program. They did an excellent job and I do agree with them. The extended French 

seems to be the best program to reach the most students. Perhaps in a couple of years it can be 

offered in grade 4 and more in the future. I did look at other boards programs and found them 

very similar to HCDSB.  

The full French -immersion program seems to serve very few of the total enrollment of the 
Board and if expanded will  take up a lot of space.  
There is also the issue of teachers. Qualified Catholic French teachers are hard to find. If you say 
they don't have to be Catholic then what have we been fighting for, for 170 years. Teachers 
from New Brunswick, Northern Ontario or Quebec would find it very hard here given the cost of 
living. 
HDSB has an extensive French program but given that like HCDSB it is an English board, many 
students in the English stream are being bussed out of their home school area. This hardly 
seems fair to me. I also note they are backing the program up to Grade 2. 
I will forward all the information to you in case you do not have it all.  
I do hope to be a delegate at the next meeting, but at the moment I am in hospital waiting for 
heart tests. I still hope to get there as a delegate. It is a tough decision but one that has to 
support ALL children in the system. 
God Bless!!! Alice Anne 
 
From: MARCIO CAMPOS <marciocampos@cogeco.ca> 

Date: October 20, 2017 at 10:20:28 AM EDT 

To: <rabendad@hcdsb.org>, <tritess@hcdsb.org>, <inatomasia@hcdsb.org>, 

<michaelj@hcdsb.org>, <rowem@hcdsb.org>, <danko@hcdsb.org>, <karabelah@hcdsb.org>, 

<maraip@hcdsb.org>, <anthonyquinn@hcdsb.org> 

Cc: <secure-hcdsb-efi@googlegroups.com> 

Subject: Toronto Catholic (TCSB) is expanding EFI without scraping EF 

Dear Trustees, 

  

I need to share this information to give you perspective: 

  

https://www.tcdsb.org/News/othernews/2017/Pages/TCDSB-to-Expand-French-Immersion-

Sites.aspx 

  

Our neighbouring CATHOLIC board in Toronto is currently expanding their EFI program, and 

they are NOT scrapping Extended French. Please take 1 minute to read the news on the link 

above. 

  

For the 2017-2018 school year, TDSB has expanded EFI from 9 to 14 sites. Another 5 sites will 

be added for the 2018-2019 year, for a total of 19 EFI sites. 

For the 2017-2018 school year, TDSB offers EF in 17 sites (phased-out the program on 1 site, 

and is discussing reducing another 1 site for 2018-2019). 

  

One can't refrain from wondering: how come our neighbour Catholic Board manages to 

EXPAND (in fact, DOUBLE) their EARLY FRENCH IMMERSION program WITHOUT 
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SCRAPPING EXTENDED FRENCH, while our HCDSB isn't capable of even maintain both 

programs?  

  

Best Regards, 

  

Márcio Campos 

(289)828-1806 

 

 

 

 

 

 

From: R D Paul LeMay <rdpaullemay@sympatico.ca> 

Sent: Wednesday, October 18, 2017 9:44 AM 

Subject: 

 

http://www3.dpcdsb.org/Documents/FrenchImmersionMapandSchoolInfo.pdf 

 

From: R D Paul LeMay <rdpaullemay@sympatico.ca> 

Sent: Wednesday, October 18, 2017 10:09 AM  

Subject: French Immersion HCDSB 

 

https://www.hdsb.ca/learning-and-resources/Pages/French/Immersion.aspx 

 

Alice Anne LeMay 

alicelemay@sympatico.ca 

905 825 2108 

 

From: R D Paul LeMay <rdpaullemay@sympatico.ca> 

Sent: Wednesday, October 18, 2017 9:54 AM 

Subject: Toronto Catholic District School Board French immersion 4th link 

 

https://www.tcdsb.org/programsservices/schoolprogramsk12/frenchimmersion/Pages/default.as

px 

 

Alice Anne LeMay 

alicelemay@sympatico.ca 

905 825 2108 

 

From: R D Paul LeMay <rdpaullemay@sympatico.ca> 

Sent: Wednesday, October 18, 2017 9:50 AM 

To: alicelemay@sympatico.ca 

Subject: Regional French Immersion Programs – York Catholic District School Board Here is the 

first link 

 

90

mailto:rdpaullemay@sympatico.ca
http://www3.dpcdsb.org/Documents/FrenchImmersionMapandSchoolInfo.pdf
mailto:rdpaullemay@sympatico.ca
https://www.hdsb.ca/learning-and-resources/Pages/French/Immersion.aspx
mailto:alicelemay@sympatico.ca
mailto:rdpaullemay@sympatico.ca
https://www.tcdsb.org/programsservices/schoolprogramsk12/frenchimmersion/Pages/default.aspx
https://www.tcdsb.org/programsservices/schoolprogramsk12/frenchimmersion/Pages/default.aspx
mailto:alicelemay@sympatico.ca
mailto:rdpaullemay@sympatico.ca
mailto:alicelemay@sympatico.ca


http://www.ycdsb.ca/frenchimmersion/regional-french-immersion-programs/ 

 

 

Alice Anne LeMay 

alicelemay@sympatico.ca 

905 825 2108 

 

 

From: R D Paul LeMay <rdpaullemay@sympatico.ca> 

Sent: Wednesday, October 18, 2017 12:31 PM 

Subject: EQAO Policies and Procedures for the Primary- and Junior-Division Assessments 

 

http://www.eqao.com/en/assessments/Pages/policies-procedures-elementary.aspx 

 

From: R D Paul LeMay <rdpaullemay@sympatico.ca> 

Sent: Wednesday, October 18, 2017 10:17 AM 

Subject: List of FSL school programs HDSB 

 

https://www.hdsb.ca/learning-and-resources/Pages/French/List-of-FSL-school-programs.aspx 

 

Alice Anne LeMay 

alicelemay@sympatico.ca 

905 825 2108 

 

 

From: R D Paul LeMay <rdpaullemay@sympatico.ca> 

Sent: Wednesday, October 18, 2017 9:52 AM 

Subject: French Immersion hwcdb 

 

https://www.hwcdsb.ca/learn/frenchimmersion/ 

 

Alice Anne LeMay 

alicelemay@sympatico.ca 

905 825 2108 

 

From: R D Paul LeMay <rdpaullemay@sympatico.ca> 

Sent: Wednesday, October 18, 2017 9:44 AM 

Subject: 

 

http://www3.dpcdsb.org/Documents/FrenchImmersionMapandSchoolInfo.pdf 

 

 

From: R D Paul LeMay <rdpaullemay@sympatico.ca> 

Sent: Wednesday, October 18, 2017 10:24 AM 

Subject: Class divide: as French immersion booms, English classrooms shrink - The Globe and 

Mail 
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https://beta.theglobeandmail.com/news/toronto/behind-the-french-immersion-crush-schools-

and-parents-worry-about-shrinking-

englishclassrooms/article29031082/?ref=https://www.theglobeandmail.com& 

 

Alice Anne LeMay 

alicelemay@sympatico.ca 

905 825 2108 

 

 

 

 

 

From: R D Paul LeMay <rdpaullemay@sympatico.ca> 

Sent: Wednesday, October 18, 2017 9:56 AM 

Subject: Toronto Catholic District School Board extended French 

 

https://www.tcdsb.org/ProgramsServices/SchoolProgramsK12/Extended%20French/Pages/defau

lt.aspx 

 

Alice Anne LeMay 

alicelemay@sympatico.ca 

905 825 2108 

 

From: Alice lemay 

Sent: Monday, October 23, 2017 12:26 PM 

To: Rabenda, Diane; Trites, Susan; Michael, Jane; Paul Marai; Iantomasi, Arlene; Karabela, Helena; 

DankoA@hcdsb.org; Quinn, Ann; Rowe, Mark 

Cc: DiPietro, Rosie; Dawson, Paula 

Subject: Fw: 

 

As you can see no board has French Immersion in every school despite what some say. Alice 

Anne 

 

 

Date: October 24, 2017 at 1:54:11 PM EDT 

To: <rabendad@hcdsb.org>, <tritess@hcdsb.org>, <iantomasia@hcdsb.org>, 

<michaelj@hcdsb.org>, <rowem@hcdsb.org>, <dankoa@hcdsb.org>, <karabelah@hcdsb.org>, 

<maraip@hcdsb.org>, <anthonyquinn@hcdsb.org> 

Cc: <info@ombudsman.on.ca> 

Subject: French Review Committee: what happened to its mandate? 

Dear Trustees, 

After reviewing the presentation from the Ad Hoc Committee with its recommendation to 
phase out Early French Immersion, there is an obvious and inevitable question that I failed to 
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submit during the open question period at the Board's last meeting. The question is: WHAT 
HAPPENED TO THE COMMITTEE MANDATE? 

With all due respect for all the people who put a lot of time and effort into the Committee 
work, the deviation from its mandate is embarrassing. 

How does a recommendation to phase-out EFI addresses its mandate "to prepare a multi-year 
plan for an EFI Program that will endeavor to address and resolve all of the ongoing issues (...) 
with a view to moving EFI from a pilot to a sustainable and permanent program"? 

Having been denied the opportunity to participate or observe the work of the Committee, but 
after carefully reviewing the meeting minutes that were made public, it is very evident the 
Committee took it upon themselves to establish a new mandate.  

Not only the Committee deviated from its mandate, they have done it consciously. The 
Committee's September 19th meeting minutes 
(https://www.hcdsb.org/Programs/french/Documents/2017%2009%2019%20French%20Ad%2
0Hoc%20Committee%20Notes.pdf) reads "A. Prkacin asked the committee to consider a back 
up plan in the event that the Trustees think the mandate was not met as discussed when the 
voting took place at the last meeting." 

Furthermore, what appalls me the most is that, despite having identified the challenges in 
hiring qualified teachers as the key issue , the committee has not presented a single 
recommendation to address it. 

Not a single suggestion to improve our recruitment process and outcomes. Nothing.  

Also perplexing is the lack of interest in consulting the parent community, exemplified by 
running a single-question survey AFTER a decision had already been made; a survey designed 
to be inconsequential.  

Please take a moment to read the abovementioned meeting minutes under item number 4, 
Community Consultation. It's crystal clear the Committee couldn't care less about the parent 
community opinion.  

This disregard for community involvement is what I find the most disappointing but logical 
explanation for the deviation from the Committee's mandate. 

Twelve months ago there was a fairly large group of EFI parents who were engaged and ready 
to contribute. People who were already committed to the mandate of the Committee, willing 
to examine and challenge information, bring outside expert opinion, call on relevant stake-
holders, and work to suggest solutions to the challenges in hiring teachers. 

For not being selected in the draw that chose the parent members, these parents (myself 
included) were left aside, not allowed to participate nor observe.  
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We formed a local Chapter of CPF (Canadian Parents for French) as an attempt to be included 
in the discussions as an entity, to serve as a conduit to and from that pool of engaged parents 
in our community. 

The local CPF Chapter request for a seat on the Committee was denied, twice.  

I mean no disrespect to the parents, teacher, staff and trustees that offered their time and 
talent as volunteers to the Committee. Neither I want to suggest that a work group that 
doesn't include me or that group of engaged parents is invalid. However, from the meeting 
minutes and the recommendation I'm left with the impression the mindset of this Committee 
was to repeat the narrative and assumption it is impossible to overcome the existing hiring 
challenge, despite the success other boards have been experiencing.  

It is evident this Committee has disregarded the community opinion, failed to include those 
who were already engaged in actually addressing the key issue, and bluntly deviated from its 
mandate.  

I trust you will use coherent judgement, reaffirm a commitment to broaden learning 
opportunities to our children, and reject the recommendation put forward by the Committee.  

Yours faithfully, 

Márcio Campos  

 

 
From: Catherine Theberge [mailto:catherine.thebergeconner@gmail.com]  
Sent: Wednesday, October 25, 2017 11:00 PM 
To: Rabenda, Diane <RabendaD@hcdsb.org> 
Subject: Please preserve Early French Immersion for Halton Catholic students 

 

Dear Ms Rabenda 

Early French Immersion is essential to our children’s education and future opportunities. 

Please vote against the Ad Hoc Committee’s recommendation to limit French education in our 

Board on November 21st. 

If this program does not continue, you will be forcing my hand to move my three children out of 

the Halton Catholic school board into the public school board: I have other avenues to teach my 

children about our Faith, we need the Early French Immersion  program to teach them language 

skills to set them up for future opportunities. 

  

I am deeply disappointed in our school board and the Ad Hoc Committee for failing to deliver on 

the mandate to explore strategies and opportunities to save this program. Many neighbouring 

schoolboards (including Halton Public) have been successful in attracting qualified French 
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teachers. A modicum of resourcefulness would go a very long way: for example Quebec 

currently has an overwhelming number of unemployed teachers looking for positions: and the 

vast majority are both French speaking and Catholic (>85% Catholic!). 

This failure in process is not only embarrassing for this committee but undermines my faith in 

our board to operate successfully in the best interest of our children. Never would a public 

corporation with disclosure responsibility to its shareholders be able to conduct itself with such 

egregious disregard for due process and commitments and disregard for its stakeholders. Quite 

plainly: the members of the Ad Hoc committee have not done the job and as a result have put our 

children’s futures at risk. 

Bilingualism is a foundation of Canadian nationalism. We owe it to our children to provide them 

with opportunities to develop and participate in the Canadian community to their full potential. 

My nieces in neighbouring boards like Toronto and Brampton have opportunities to start French 

immersion in kindergarten! FSL for all! 

The extended French program offers options to our students: but it is not the only model and 

certainly has not been effectively proven to be as good for our children’s French proficiency as 

the Early French Immersion program. 

Again, I’m imploring you to live up to your responsibility as an elected trustee to provide 

opportunities for our children: vote against the Ad Hoc Committee’s recommendation on 

November 21st. I will be  in the audience on November 7th, supporting fellow parents who need 

this program. I would very much like my children to remain in the Halton Catholic District 

School Board, however if the EFI program is terminated, I will be forced to move my three sons 

to the Public School Board in order to provide them with the French Language opportunities they 

deserve.  

Yours very truly 

- Catherine Theberge-Conner 

 
From: Alicia DeFreitas [mailto:alicia.defreitas@hotmail.com]  
Sent: Thursday, October 26, 2017 1:27 PM 
To: Rabenda, Diane <RabendaD@hcdsb.org> 
Subject: Early French Immersion - Halton - ACTION REQUIRED 

 

Good afternoon Diane,  

I am writing to express my disagreement with the recommendation of the Ad Hoc Committee – 
(appointed by the Halton Catholic Board of Trustees) to cancel the Early French Immersion Program. 

The mandate of the committee was “to find solutions to the challenges faced by the Early French 
Immersion Program, with the vision to move the program from a Pilot Project into Permanent 
Status”. The Ad Hoc Committee did not present any solutions to save the Early French Immersion 
Program, and instead, is recommending the cancellation. 
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As a parent and tax payer in the Halton Region, I urge you to vote against this recommendation on 
November 21st. 

1. All regions in Ontario face the same challenges, yet other boards have been able to identify 
solutions. Some boards are even expanding their programs (Toronto District).  

2. There is a huge demand for the Early French Immersion Program in the Halton Region, and not 
enough spaces to fulfill the current needs. 

3. There were no talent acquisition strategies presented by the Ad Hoc Committee. It does not 
appear that any specialists in this area were consulted to drive solutions to the issues at hand. 

4. There are many teachers in Quebec who are willing to relocate to Ontario, however, the 
recruitment tactics the Halton Board are using are sub-par. 
 

My child has less of an opportunity in Halton than other school boards in Ontario. 

Please let me know what you are going to do to help. I would appreciate a response to this email 
and/or I am also available to discuss via phone 647-463-5985. 

Thank you,  

Alicia DeFreitas 

 

Hello Ms. Rabenda,  
 

Thank you for getting back to me! I appreciate your attention to these queries. It was very kind 

of you to have taken my questions, and I thank both the board and the committee for responding 

to my queries. 

 

As it had been a while since the meeting, I undertook some research of my own regarding 

question number one. I imagine staff is quite busy, and it wasn't any trouble. I hope both the 

trustees and board members will find the information I learned useful.  

 

1. The most recent and comprehensive published study sponsored by the ministry did indeed 

confirm that far, far more EF students tend to challenge level B1 and more EFI students 

challenge B2. It seems the board's study confirms this as well, so you'll be happy to note the 

similarity. 

 

That said, the success rates for achievement on the B1 and B2 exams were both quite high. (I'll 

share the percentages in a subsequent email as I'm not near my computer right now.) So it was 

clear that EFI students outperformed EF students on this French proficiency examination. 

 

2. To help make this clearer, the study interestingly noted that there was quite a leap in terms of 

difficulty in moving to from B1 to B2. This does reflect my experiences. But I found it striking 

that the author chose to emphasize that difference, particularly as the study also covered levels 

A1 and A2 with no mention of the increasing level of difficulty in going from A1 to A2 to B1. 

It's quite a jump to get to B2, which makes sense as this is the level required by French 

universities choosing to admit non-Francophones. 

 

3. Another interesting fact noted in the study was the superior confidence levels of these 

students, making them more apt to use French in their daily lives, which continues to augment 
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their proficiency. Though I know the board claims to not be in the business of cultivating 

bilingualism (as indicated on countless occasions during last year's sustainability report 

discussions), it's 2012 introduction of EFI stated otherwise. The goal according to former 

Superintendent Herman was to develop functionally bilingual students, which is measured as 

level B2. Based on this mandate, the board should be very pleased about the increasing 

proficiency levels it is cultivating right now through EFI. I'd say they made the right decision 

based on this study. And I applaud their foresight! 

 

Of course, none of these results are surprising given the additional hours one spends studying 

French in an EFI program, not to mention the age at which one begins this study. Having 

statistics to support these commonplace observations, however, is useful.  

 

I will be sure to send you the link to the study in question as well as the relevant citations alluded 

to above. I trust you'll find it informative, and it will hopefully help the board continue to deliver 

its highly successful EFI and EF programs. 

 

 

Before I close, I'd like to congratulate the board on getting its EF students to "comparable" 

proficiency levels as EFI students from other boards. That's wonderful news! Thank you for 

sharing it. 

 

Given the board's great track record in French instruction, I imagine its EFI students will 

demonstrate remarkable results when contrasted against those from other boards. And I can't 

wait to receive them! Those students should consider challenging the DALF C1 exam, huh? 

 

In fact, it's my confidence in this board that convinces me that it can deliver an excellent EFI 

program well into the future -- despite any challenges that may currently stand in its way.  

 

Were I not a committed HCDSB supporter, I wouldn't be upset about the ill-informed 

recommendation to scrap EFI. I'd simply enroll my children in our neighbouring public board. 

After all, I can seek the support of my parish, family, and faith community to teach my children 

about Catholicism. But sadly, I cannot speak to them in French for half the day. If only we all 

could, right? :) 

 

That's one of the many reasons cancelling the most popular and equitable optional academic 

program at HCDSB is not okay. It feels like an act of bad faith to parents, to the local Catholic 

community, and most importantly to  our students -- those whose achievement, belief, and 

belonging this board is committed to supporting. As a parent, it's my duty to help guide those 

entrusted with the care and tutelage of my children. And I'm happy to support the trustees and 

board in any way I can. 

 

Have a blessed weekend! I'll be in touch with that additional info as discussed.  

 

All the best,  

Shawna 

 
From: Fernanda Brandão [mailto:fernandadlb@hotmail.com]  
Sent: Tuesday, October 31, 2017 1:01 PM 
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To: gcastaneda82@gmail.com 
Subject: French immersion program 

 

To whom it may concern, 
 
I am writing to inform that I don’t want any of the French programmings canceled. My older 
daughter is in Grade 1 and she is lucky to be in this program and I have no complaints at all. 
 
I also hope that my younger son can also enjoy this program in 2019 when he will be in grade 1 
as well. 
 
Please, contact me if you need any more information. 
 

Yours faithfully, 

Fernanda Brandao. 
Brandao Services | Languages & Translation 
Phone: (905) 484-1599 
E-mail: fernandadlb@hotmail.com 
Linkedin  
 

 
From: Miguel Salvati [mailto:ms.salvati@gmail.com]  
Sent: Tuesday, October 31, 2017 10:16 AM 
To: Rabenda, Diane <RabendaD@hcdsb.org> 
Subject: Halton Catholic EFI program 

 
Hello Diane, 
 
My name is Miguel Salvati.  I live with my family in Oakville and we have two children. My son is  currently 
in  EFI and my youngest will hopefully follow the same path.  I would like to know what is being done to 
ensure that this EFI program will not be cancelled?  
 
 I really feel strongly that the potential cancellation of EFI is a huge mistake for the future of our children.   I 
have done my research and our neighbouring boards (Dufferin Peel and TCDSB) for example embrace EFI and 
in fact are expanding their respective programs . I would like to know why the Halton Catholic District school 
board who I trust with the well being of our children's education would want to cancel the EFI program 
during a period of the child's life known to be the most opportune time to learn a new language is in their 
early years of life. This really does not make any sense.  Catholic education is important for our children as 
well as Early French Immersion and we should not have to make a choice between the two.   
 
Thank you Diane. 
 
Kind regards, 

 
Miguel Salvati 
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From: Miguel Salvati <ms.salvati@gmail.com> 
Sent: 31 October 2017 10:29 
To: Iantomasi, Arlene 
Subject: Halton Catholic EFI program  
  
Hello Arlene, 
 
My name is Miguel Salvati.  I live with my family in Oakville and we have two children. My son is  currently 
in  EFI and my youngest will hopefully follow the same path.  I would like to know what is being done to 
ensure that this EFI program will not be cancelled?  
 
 I really feel strongly that the potential cancellation of EFI is a huge mistake for the future of our children.   I 
have done my research and our neighbouring boards (Dufferin Peel and TCDSB) for example embrace EFI and 
in fact are expanding their respective programs . I would like to know why the Halton Catholic District school 
board who I trust with the well being of our children's education would want to cancel the EFI program 
during a period of the child's life known to be the most opportune time to learn a new language is in their 
early years of life. This really does not make any sense.  Catholic education is important for our children as 
well as Early French Immersion and we should not have to make a choice between the two.   
 
Thank you Arlene. 
 
Kind regards, 

 
Miguel Salvati 
 

 

Melissa and Philip Dale, Olivia, JK and Vivienne, Pre-JK 

 

From: natasha blimkie [mailto:natashablimkie1@gmail.com]  
Sent: Thursday, November 2, 2017 2:28 PM 
To: Rabenda, Diane <RabendaD@hcdsb.org> 
Subject: EFI issue 

Good Afternoon, 

My name is Natasha Blimkie and I have two children currently enrolled in the EFI program at 

Sacred Heart of Jesus CES in Burlington. I am so disheartened that this wonderful program is yet 

again threatened and I implore you to grant it  permanent status – in terms of acquiring new 

French teachers, this will allow the net to be cast wider and to allow future students to enjoy the 

merits of a fantastic program. 

Study after study has show the benefits of students who learn a second language. It not only 

allows them to appreciate the language itself but it also provides a platform for future 

opportunities to learn other languages. This gives our children an ability to challenge their 

learning curve, and provides a conduit for communication and access to culture(s) with varying 

degrees of fluency. 

Of course, we cannot underestimate the edge it provides our children as they graduate as 

productive adults into the workforce. As our society grows multi-culturally, so too does the 
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interest and demand for workers who can speak more than one language in the current and future 

job market. 

Other boards are able to meet the challenges re: funding and teaching shortages, and I feel 

strongly that Halton Catholic should be as committed and competitive as other boards throughout 

Ontario.  

Overall, I must say I am extremely disappointed in the way this issue has been dealt with. As a 

Catholic institution, I feel like there has been a lack of transparency and some issues that put the 

integrity of the process to phase out EFI into question (the surveys for example). Many parents 

are busy and aren’t necessarily aware of the significance of this issue. Emails (as most of us are 

already inundated with emails from work, school & other institutions) don’t necessarily 

command attention – esp for busy, working families. I would have thought that at the school 

level there would be more communication – a newsletter or a town hall at the very least. I’ve 

heard more about the recent school fundraiser than I have about the possibly elimination of the 

Early French Immersion program. I myself was unaware that the entire program was at risk until 

I received an email from the board featuring a PowerPoint presentation with the two options that 

the board had reached. In other words, a decision was already made with limited input or even 

awareness from the community. 

What saddens me most, perhaps, the very real possibility of having to pull all 3 of my children 

out of the Catholic board so that my youngest (she is starting JK next year) will have access to 

the EFI program.  The demand for French as a second language will continue to grow and I 

believe our children deserve such a program that allows them to engage more intimately with 

Canada’s official language. Restricting  access and elimination of this program puts our children 

at a distinct disadvantage. 

Many thanks for your time and attention and I pray that you will vote Nov 21st to keep the EFI 

program with a Permanent Status. 

Natasha Blimkie 

 
From: Melissa Rydahl [mailto:melrydahl@gmail.com]  
Sent: Wednesday, November 1, 2017 3:56 PM 
To: Rabenda, Diane <RabendaD@hcdsb.org> 
Subject: Early French Immersion 

 

Good Afternoon Diane,  
 

I am contacting you about the early French immersion program being cancelled.  
 

I do not support this initiative.  
 

I recently moved down the street from Queen of Heaven so my girls (one is in JK this year and 
the other, JK next year) could get a French education along with a strong Catholic perspective. I 
cannot believe that this is the situation in Halton when French is expanding in all other boards: 
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In addition to Core French, 
 

 Halton Public School board 

 Peel District School Board 

 Dufferin-Peel Catholic District School Board…etc;  
Also offer two optional French programs: Extended French, beginning in Grade 7 and French 
Immersion that currently begins in Grade 2.  
 

The Public board changed their Grade 1 entry point to French Immersion this year to Grade 2, 
meeting the school boards needs AND satisfying the preference by stakeholders, particularly 
parents, who prefer early entry into the program, which the report defined as being between 
kindergarten and Grade 3. 

Dufferin-Peel Catholic District School Board has 12 SCHOOLS that are dedicated to Early French 
Immersion programming and 11 SCHOOLS dedicated to Extended French Learning (that begins 
in Grade 1) in comparison to our HDSB that only has 4 schools that are dedicated to the Early 
French Immersion program and some (getting the number) schools dedicated to the Extended 
French Learning program that begins in Grade 5. 
 

If the Early French program is cancelled, I will “be forced” to move my daughters to the public 
board. It is not an easy decision to leave the Catholic school board, however feel forced to 
based on the early French Immersion program cancellation. 
 

I work in Recreation and experience staffing shortages all across programming and service 
levels as well, but we are not cancelling programs or services – we are finding creative 
solutions, running marketing campaigns, offering staff right out of their courses/schooling work 
(which York Region does but Halton does not).  

 

This program wasn’t even given a chance.  

 

I hope that the decision will be overturned and I know that I am not alone in these thoughts. 

 

Thanks, 

Melissa and Philip Dale, Olivia, JK and Vivienne, Pre-JK 

 
From: Vivien Rigodon-Lasam [mailto:vivienpauline@msn.com]  
Sent: Monday, November 6, 2017 10:11 AM 
To: Rabenda, Diane <RabendaD@hcdsb.org> 
Cc: Atrach, Christina <AtrachC@hcdsb.org>; Barbul, Anamaria <BarbulA@hcdsb.org>; Schwecht, Ingrid 
<SchwechtI@hcdsb.org> 
Subject: Please Save the Early French Immersion Program  

 

Diane Rabenda 
Milton Trustee  

Chair of the Board  
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Halton Catholic District School Board 
802 Drury Lane 

Burlington, ON  

L7R 2Y2 

 

Dear Trustee Rabenda: 

 

Good Day.  My name is Vivien Rigodon-Lasam, a Burlington resident and a mother of two 

young children. My daughter is currently enrolled in Grade 1 at the Sacred Heart of Jesus under 

the Early French Immersion Program. My son is an incoming Junior Kindergarten student in 

September of 2018. 

 

I am sending this letter to humbly ask for your vote to keep the Early French Immersion 

Program from being phased out. 
 

Just a year ago, I was seated among the group of parents in support of saving the Early French 

Immersion Program. My daughter was in SK, and I knew back then that there was a 50/50 

chance of her getting into the program. I was grateful for that chance. That opportunity was 

almost taken away entirely due to looming cancellation of EFI. It is unfortunate that we find 

ourselves here again a year later, rallying for the very same cause. 

 

My daughter was blessed to be accepted into the EFI program. My husband and I are witnesses 

to how she has eased into learning the French language. She takes the school bus and travels a 

total of one hour and ten minutes every single day. Rain or shine. Without fail. Without 

question. And if our six year old shows that level of commitment to go to school to learn French, 

then I ask the School Board to extend as much commitment in providing early French education 

to our children. 

 

We aspire to raise our family deeply rooted in the Catholic faith. We belong to a small and tight-

knit community at St. Patrick’s in Burlington, and have been since 2011. There was no question 

that we were going to provide our children with a Catholic education and we do not want to 

be forced to move them to a public school to gain access to Early French Immersion. 

 

It is every parent’s goal to equip their children with the necessary tools to help them succeed in 

life - and for this very reason, we believe in the value of Early French Immersion in our 

children’s education. It just does not seem fair for my son to not have the same opportunity to be 

in the EFI program as his older sister — or a chance at least. And as a Catholic parent and 

staunch supporter of the Halton Catholic District School Board, it pains me that I may be faced 

with the difficult decision to transfer my children to a nearby public school offering Early French 

Immersion. Catholicism can be taught at home, in church, through faith-based support groups. 

However, teaching them in French for half a day, five days a week is simply something I cannot 

do. 

 

My husband and I thank the entire French Review Committee for their invaluable work. With the 

findings and studies they have put forward, and commitment made by the Minister of Education 

to ensure an adequate and growing supply of FSL teachers, this is the time to take proactive steps 

to make the EFI a more sustainable, accessible, and permanent program.  
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Thank you for your time.   

 

Sincerely, 

 

Vivien Pauline Rigodon-Lasam 

 

 
Hi, 
 

I would like to address some comments we have been hearing in response to the announced government initiatives being 

taken to address the current FSL teacher supply issue. 

 

We heard last year at one of the  Board meetings that many of the challenges facing boards with respect to French teacher 

supply issues must be addressed with the Ministry of Education.  That was a fair comment.  This issue has been raised 

with both the federal and provincial governments over the last year (and even before).  They have heard these concerns 

loud and clear.  And now that real initiatives and strategies have been proposed, and some are already being implemented, 

the comments from some at this Board include an acknowledgement of those initiatives but with the caveat that they are 

also aware of the "political realities of 2018".  I'm not sure what political realities are being referred to - the upcoming 

election?  Seems like double talk to me.  More Ministry input was sought.  But now that their sought after initiatives have 

been announced they are being easily dismissed by some in this Board with no in depth fact-based discussion (not opinion) 

as to "why" specifically those individuals think the initiatives will not be successful.  

 

So I'd like to once again provide a list of government initiatives announced/being implemented.  Many of these initiatives 

are already in the hands of the bureaucracy (which means they are happening).  CPF met with both the PCs and the NDP is 

September and reports that both indicated support for growth in FSL and French Immersion.  It is highly unlikely any 

new government would change direction on many of these regardless of the outcome of the next provincial election. 

 

PROVINCIAL INITIATIVES: 

 

1.  Ontario's first exclusively French language university - set to open in Toronto in the next couple of 

years.  Addressing the labour gap in education is one of its objectives.  It will provide a continuum for Francophones and 

French Immersion grads to continue their studies in French at university and expand the pool of potential B Ed 

candidates.  This has the support of all 3 parties, so it is happening (Globe & Mail - Aug 28, 2017) 

 

2.  Attracting International French teachers (announced at the CPF symposium by Minister Hunter at the end 

of October): 

 Provincial communication strategy to highlight job opportunities specifically for aspiring French teachers. They 

aim to counter the narrative that Ontario has on oversupply of teachers - up until now the difference between the 

teacher supply issue of English versus French teachers has not clearly delineated. 

 Collaborative work with the Ministry of Citizenship & Immigration in the form of an information campaign to 

inform international teachers about Ontario's opportunities in teaching with bridging and mentorship programs 

for international teachers in teaching positions here in Ontario.   

 Ontario College of Teachers to streamline evaluation of credentials for internationally educated francophone 

teachers.  OCT is an independent body and their work continues regardless of political party in power. 

3.  Ontario Faculties of Education to be more responsive to labour market needs (announced at the CPF 

symposium): 

 Dean's of Faculties of Education to allow flexible teacher education models to increase access to mature students 

& those who live a distance from a Faculty of Education thus opening the door for French speaking Canadians to 

re-enter the job market by re-training as a teacher. 

 Dean's of Faculties of Education to align admission decisions with labour market demands.  This occurred in 

medicine more than 10 years ago to address the doctor supply issue in rural Ontario and it has proven successful 

- 94% of medical students specifically admitted to address the labour market needs in Ontario's north are staying 

to practice in the north (CBC News Oct 16/17) .  The same can be expected if more French speaking teachers are 

admitted to teacher's college - and it only takes 2 years to graduate teachers.  Aligning admission decisions with 
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labour market needs is not a new concept, has proven successful, and is not contingent on the political party in 

power.  

4.  FSL Provincial Groups 

 FSL Provincial Working Group - this group is already sitting and working.  Among others, the Catholic Trustee 

Association has a seat.   This is a group supporting student achievement.  At its upcoming meeting on Nov 15 an 

agenda item includes developments at the Ministry to support FSL programs, including teacher supply and 

Federal-Provincial agreements. 

 Labour Market Study for FSL - this group is already sitting and working with a report on recommendations to 

address the teacher supply issue due once the group wraps up its work in May 2018.  Both Ontario English public 

and Catholic school board leadership associations are represented.  This is already happening irrespective of the 

"political realities".  Governments don't take back funding.  See attachment. 

5.  Other provincial initiatives (announced at the CPF symposium): 

 Project to financially support teachers in obtaining advanced qualifications in priority areas, including French 

 The development of supply & demand forecasting models - this is already happening. 

What was striking at the CPF symposium was that during question period an employee from Bluewater spoke to 

Minister Hunter about the challenges of the FSL teacher supply.  She was excited about all these new initiatives 

announced and proactively asked the Ministry to consider her school to be a pilot school in the roll out of some 

these initiatives (should that be required).  That is a very different approach than the one taken by this Board 

which is considering phasing out EFI instead of putting themselves in the best possible position to benefit from 

these government initiatives.  
 

 

FEDERAL INITIATIVES:  The Federal election is a couple of years away so the opinion that "political realities" would 

interfere with implementation of these strategies is unsubstantiated. 

 

1.  Franco-Canadian pact to address teacher shortage - Announced May 23, 2017 - this was discussed during the 

delegations (item 5.16).  I have included the announcement as an attachment.  This agreement builds on a long history of 

Franco-Canadian mobility, including a long-standing youth mobility agreement to facilitate the movement of 18-35 year 

olds between the two countries.  Therefore there is precedent in this respect.  This pact to attract teachers from France is in 

step with agreements already in place and thus there is every reason to believe it will be successful. 

 

2.  National immigration rules being softened to expedite immigration of French Immersion Teachers from other 

French-speaking regions.  (CanadaUpdates - March 18, 2017). 

 

3.  FSL teacher supply issue is on the agenda of a national working group - agreed to by the Council of Ministers of 

Education (announced by Minister Hunter at the CPF symposium). 

 

 

The Provincial and Federal governments have heard our concerns loud and clear.  One cannot easily dismiss all these 

initiatives aimed at the same issue and claim that in his/her opinion the "political realities" will not see these come to 

fruition.  There are just too many approaches, from different angles, and by multiple levels of government (some already 

put into action and others in the hands of bureaucracy) to make such a claim in any believable way.   

 

Both Early Immersion and Extended French must now be given the time to see these initiatives come to fruition.  If EFI is 

phaseout now HCDSB will be left behind while other Boards reap the benefits from these initiatives in the very near 

future.  We are now in year 5 of the implementation of EFI.  It does't make sense to quit now.  As Minister Hunter said, 

"don't make a decision that you don't have to make."  Vote against the recommendation of the Ad Hoc Committee and 

move to make Early French Immersion a permanent program - relief is forthcoming. 

 

 

Sincerely, 

 

Raffaela Profiti 
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Hi, 

 

I would like to take this opportunity to provide further information with respect to Regulation 274 and the ability to hire 

new applicants to a full time permanent position.  This is in support of my Delegation (item 5.17) presented at the last 

meeting.  I encourage you to re-read the section on Regulation 274 in my delegation. 

 

HCDSB contends that Reg 274 prevents them from offering full time contracts to new hires and maintains that the Board 

can only offer new hires occasional teaching positions, even when there are no qualified and interested teachers on their 

current OT/LTO lists for unfilled positions.  They cite this as an obstacle to attracting out of province teachers who would 

not re-locate without a guarantee of employment (See attachment A).  As I mentioned in my delegation, it was confirmed 

with a union rep that this Board has misinterpreted the Regulation.  It was clarified that when there are no qualified and 

interested teachers on a Board's internal/LTO/OT list, a board may then post the position and hire a new external applicant 

(i.e. not on any of the Board's lists) directly to that full time position without that teacher having to work his/her way up 

the LTO/OT list. 

 

I wanted to let you know that on Nov 10,  I connected with Marshall Jarvis - General Secretary of OECTA (catholic 

teachers union). He negotiated this aspect of the collective agreement.  He too confirmed the above as clarified by the 

union rep - in WRITING!   
 

I also mentioned in my delegation that this misinterpretation has put HCDSB at a significant disadvantage because, while 

we only offer occasional teaching jobs, our neighbouring boards (Peel DSB and Halton DSB) are offering those same 

applicants full time positions.  They do this through a concept called "pool hiring".  I briefly explained this in my 

delegation and to support this I provided documents from those Boards in an Appendix.  If you need any clarification on 

the concept of pool hiring I'd be happy to discuss.   

 

As an illustration of "pool hiring" in action (the hiring of a pool of external candidates directly to permanent positions) I 

recently came across a job posting from Peel DSB on ApplyToEducation.  I have attached it (Attachment B) as well as 

the most recent HCDSB for comparison (Attachment C).  On Nov 9, 2017, the Peel DSB posted a full time job posting 

open to all external candidates.  They are even targeting those teachers whose OCT certification is still 

pending.  You will see from the post that they are currently hiring teachers now, in November, to join their 

Permanent French Pool Teachers in anticipation of their projected needs in Sept 2018.  The teachers hired now will 

be placed into a permanent position in September 2018.   

 

And so, while HCDSB continues to only offer occasional teaching positions, our neighbouring boards are actively 

recruiting to fill permanent positions very early in the school year - early bird gets the worm.  Which offer do you suppose 

those qualified FSL teachers (even the Catholic teachers) will accept - an occasional position from HCDSB or a full time 

position at Peel DSB? 

 

Does this misinterpretation of Regulation 274 explain why, as of the Sept 12 Committee minutes, there were 8 qualified 

teachers on HCDSB's supply list while 4 full time positions remained unfilled?  As clarified with a union rep and an 

executive from OECTA, those supply teachers can be offered the full time positions.  By not doing so HCDSB risks 

losing even those supply teachers to other boards offering full time positions.   

  

This is not the first time the misinterpretation of Regulation 274 has been raised.  I reviewed the delegations from last year 

and on Dec 20, 2016 Cheryl Neves spoke to this very issue.  I have included a copy of her delegation for your 

review (Attachment D).  What bothers me is that this issue was raised a year ago and overlooked, or ignored.  Why did the 

Board not follow up on this at the time?  Because they didn't, another year has gone by and this Board has likely missed 

opportunities to hire well qualified teachers.  To be clear, this misinterpretation is affecting the ability to recruit FSL 

teachers to ALL 3 French programs - CORE, Extended and French Immersion - and so all HDSCB children are affected. 

 

I don't understand how I, a physician with a full time job and not immersed in the workings of Regulation of 274 or HR 

recruiting, was able to obtain this information in a few short days of intermittent questioning, searching, and reaching out 

to various stakeholders.  Why doesn't the HR department have a full understanding of Regulation 274 and the agreement 

as negotiated by OECTA?  

 

There is a shortage of French teachers making hiring a challenge but it is not the crisis this Board contends.  By not 

operating within the full scope and current authority granted within Regulation 274 HCDSB has placed itself in a 

significantly disadvantaged position for a number of years when it comes to filling unfilled positions - especially when our 
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neighbouring boards are doing just that.  And as a result our children and programming has been affected.  But this can be 

rectified. 

 

I maintain that this Board has not done everything they can do (or even enough) to recruit FSL teachers.  All avenues have 

not yet been exhausted.  Their misinterpretation of Regulation 274 is just one example of the many that were provided 

during the delegations.  Senior staff likely believed they were doing things correctly as it relates to Regulation 

274.  However, now that an executive at OECTA has clarified its proper interpretation it is time to work to rectify the 

situation and put HCDSB in the best possible position to attract the best teachers.  I ask you to vote against the 

recommendation brought forth by the Ad Hoc Committee.  With a more proactive and aggressive approach this Board can 

meet its needs and, because of this, our kids don't deserve to lose the opportunity for Early French Immersion.  

 

Sincerely, 

 

Raffaela Profiti 
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Hi, 

 

I wanted to provide you with the the 2016-2017 numbers with respect to what the other Catholic Boards in the province 

are providing in French programming.  I presented 2015-16 numbers in my delegation but recently found 2016/17 

numbers. 

 19/29 Catholic Boards have only EFI (this includes Durham CDSB who is phasing out EF and expanding EFI) 

 6/29 Catholic Boards have both EFI and EF 

 1/29 Catholic Board has only EF 

 3/29 Catholic Boards had none (Wellington, Superior North, Simcoe Muskoka - 2 of which are in the north, 

maybe too small without enough demand.  We don't have enough information to comment) 

 

So, out of 20 Catholic Boards that offer only 1 program - 19 chose to offer French Immersion over Extended.  As per the 

presentations given to the Ad Hoc Committee, this information was not provided to the Committee. The Committee was 

just told that 75% of Catholic Boards offer only one of the programs.  In all fairness, it should have been clarified that of 

those Catholic Boards that offer 1 program, 95% offer EFI as their only program and 5% (one) offers only EF. 
 
The numbers notwithstanding, the benefit of having both EFI and EF is that it allows for multiple entry points in order to 

meet more student needs. 
 

 

Sincerely,  

 

Raffaela Profiti 

 

 

This article may be of interest.   

 

The Windsor Catholic Board has 7 Early French Immersion sites, still in the roll out phase of all 

but 2 of them.  They start in JK.  They have been successful in hiring French Teachers.  33 of its 

last 35 elementary teachers hired were qualified to teach in the language.  Six high school French 

teachers were hired in the last 2 years.  They are now even hiring teachers who were in their 

French Immersion program. 

 

 

Hard to believe there aren't any teachers out there.  It's just going to take more of an effort (and 

creativity) to attract them to HCDSB. 

 

Raffaela 

 

http://windsorstar.com/news/local-news/area-school-boards-get-creative-to-meet-demands-for-

french-immersion 

 

 

Another article of interest just published.  Speaks well to the equity and elitism issue. 

 

https://www.thestar.com/opinion/commentary/2017/11/15/french-immersion-a-success-that-

should-be-celebrated.html 

 

Raffaela 

118

http://windsorstar.com/news/local-news/area-school-boards-get-creative-to-meet-demands-for-french-immersion
http://windsorstar.com/news/local-news/area-school-boards-get-creative-to-meet-demands-for-french-immersion
https://www.thestar.com/opinion/commentary/2017/11/15/french-immersion-a-success-that-should-be-celebrated.html
https://www.thestar.com/opinion/commentary/2017/11/15/french-immersion-a-success-that-should-be-celebrated.html


 

 

Good morning Ms. Rabenda,  

I am reaching out to you to request your support for the future of the early FI program in our 
Halton Catholic schools.  I am a strong proponent of Early French Immersion for several 
reasons.  I am a graduate of a French Immersion program which began in SK.  The French 
language is deeply embedded in my skill set through my early exposure and participation in an 
early French Immersion program.  My ability and comfort in the French language has provided 
me with many opportunities in my education, including a University level exchange program to 
France, as well as several advantages in my career to date.  My ability to speak French is second 
nature and comes with minimal effort.  As you likely are aware, the earlier exposure to a new 
language will significantly improve the ability of the individual to develop the skills of a second 
language.  With my interest in languages, I also had an interest in developing my Spanish 
language skills at the grade 9 level and beyond.  I had taken several courses throughout high 
school and university to develop my skills in Spanish.  I can say with first hand experience that I 
excelled in French through the FI program, receiving French language awards throughout my 
years in elementary and high school and yet I struggled with retaining my Spanish language 
skills outside of the classroom.  French is embedded in my language skill and I have retained 
and can effectively use the skill set as required and with confidence.  I cannot say the same for 
my Spanish skills although I spent years dedicated to learning the language beginning at age 
14.  I strongly believe that a French program beginning in Grade 5 will have significantly less 
impact on our children and provide minimal benefit in their ability to learn and be comfortable 
with the language.  It is a waste of resources to dedicate a full time staff to this type of 
program.  In my opinion, the resources should be allocated to other Catholic Boards or the 
Public Boards rather than to fulfill an extended French program at the grade 5 level.  The long 
term benefits between this program and the core French programs will be minimal.   

Other boards (public and Catholic – including the TDCSB) are maintaining these programs and 
are expanding them to additional schools (specifically the TDCSB).  I do not believe that we 
should be short changing our students in the HCDSB to have to choose between a Catholic 
education or an effective French program in the public system or to have to move from the 
Halton Board to obtain a comparable level of Catholic and Early FI education that can be 
offered in other boards.   

The Ontario government is realizing the need to improve the number of French Language 
teachers and I believe that we cannot be too quick to make a decision on cancelling the early FI 
program.  The pilot program currently running is wonderfully received with minimal drop out of 
children.  My daughter has just began the program in Gr. 1 and is excelling in the program and 
loves it.  Her enthusiasm for school has increased significantly from last year and she has 
already learned so much in the past two months.  I ask that you please provide this wonderful, 
positive opportunity for our kids in this continuously global world that we live in.  My daughter 
came home this week and said…”Mom, are they going to cancel French so I can’t do it 
anymore?  And what about Matthew (her brother), will he be able to do French?”  I told her 
that I hoped that she would be able to continue and that the same opportunity would be 
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available for both her brothers.  She came home devastated that she may not be able to 
continue to learn the French language in her current capacity.  We cannot take this away from 
our students.  There are options to figure out additional teacher resources to provide this 
program to our kids.  This may require changing the rules, this may require new thinking but 
that is how we advance and how we progress to improve and become better than we are 
today.  We need to show our kids that the easy option is not always the best option.  The 
survey results did show a majority preferring the early French Immersion program.  Please help 
us to keep the early FI program for the kids.  We need to put the best interest of the kids first 
and the best program for them is to have an early FI program which I believe is understood by 
the majority.  

Our responsibility as the parents and trustees is to figure out a way to make that happen.  Our 
jobs are not always easy or do not always take the simplest path, however, if we put the kids 
first and their best interests forward, we are always able to find a way through 
challenges.  Please vote to keep Early French Immersion.  

Thank you in advance, 

Andrea Troiano 

Thank you  for your response.  I truly appreciate your feedback and I respect your concerns and 
opinions.  I also respect and thank you for all of the hard work and dedication that goes into 
your role with the HCDSB. 
I did attend the session last week and am frustrated and disappointed with where we are as a 
board today. We did have wonderful delegate presentations which I hope can bring to light 
some potential options. My note is lengthy however, I do ask that you take a moment to read 
and please share with any peers or to anyone that you feel would benefit.  

While I do agree that there are challenges related to hiring French teachers and it proves to be 
a current obstacle, I also believe that we have the ability to come up with viable options to 
sustain this program.  The challenge that you are concerned with regarding a lack of available 
talent is a struggle that many businesses and other public institutions are also faced with on a 
day to day basis and this is not a new issue or the last issue that we will be required to work 
hard towards the solution that provides the best curriculum for our kids.  We simply cannot 
give up in light of a "crisis" - we need to determine solutions to become better - not to simply 
regress to the most simple path with the least amount of obstacles.   
I am a professional with almost 15 years of experience working in three different organizations 
including a professional services firm, a large Canadian public Company and a small local private 
family run business.  In my firm days, we had highly qualified, top tier students lined up for the 
coveted roles in the firm.  Similar to the oversupply of teachers in recent years, we had our 
choice of candidates and our recruiting efforts did not have to be altered to attract 
talent.  Subsequent to my move into industry, the hiring process has changed and continues to 
evolve.  With a smaller pool of qualified and experienced candidates, competitor salary 
pressures and ever changing wants and needs of millennials, the past recruiting and hiring 
processes have had to be re-evaluated, evolved, adapted and expanded.  I do not believe that 
we have really put that effort into our search for French Language teachers at the HCDSB.  As a 
trustee and chair for the HCDSB, I am sure that you see the wonderful opportunities that the 
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region provides for people to work, live and play.  Halton is a beautiful, vibrant region with 
many opportunities and amenities and yet we cannot attract teachers to work here?  I find that 
very hard to understand.  The communities in Halton are equally wonderful communities to 
belong to and in my opinion, Halton is the best region in the GTA – yet no one wants to work 
here?   
There are other examples of this type of struggle that I have had visibility to in the past.  I grew 
up in Thunder Bay and we always had issues with doctor shortages.  The city chose to drive 
forward in what was a very difficult path filled with many obstacles to try to improve the 
situation.  They used new ideas, new concepts and community involvement to improve what 
many thought was an “impossible” situation.  They lobbied for a brand new hospital to be built 
to draw physicians and become a northwestern Ontario hub.  They built the Northwestern 
Ontario School of Medicine with preferences to candidates from the region and with 
requirements to practice in the region for a certain length of time.  They spent time at 
universities in Southern Ontario drawing graduate candidates from various disciplines by 
marketing the beauty and advantages of the North.  What would have had happened if they 
had a narrow minded and antiquated approach and simply said, there is not enough doctors to 
fill our need and there is nothing we can do?  They would certainly not be where they are 
today.   
Even in my small, remote community of Thunder Bay, we had robust FI programs from SK to 
Grade 13.  The city does not have a strong French Canadian presence (as opposed to some 
smaller Northern Ontario communities with high French Canadian populations).  There were 
few Francophone families in our program.  I had qualified French teachers from a variety of 
backgrounds including Africa, France and Quebec, among others.  This was in a remote 
northwestern Ontario city……and yet we cannot recruit in Halton?  A deciding factor for many 
French teachers will be the fact that we do not have a permanent program in place.  In 
a teaching system that thrives on seniority and with French Language qualifications that are 
in demand, it is common sense that the French teachers are not committing to the Halton 
board, simply because the HCDSB is not committed to them.  It is time that we change our 
approach – we are no longer in an environment where the school board has the upper hand 
when it comes to hiring French teachers.  That is a key realization that does not seem to be 
present in the way that the HCDSB is operating today.  The way that things have always been 
done is not the way that we should be operating today in order to progress and move the dial 
on the quality of the programming that we are able to provide to our children. 
Another relevant business example is that today companies are struggling with finding 
experienced data analytics professionals.  This skill set is emerging and is at the forefront in 
determining insights from information which is the catalyst for developing business 
strategy.  The skill set is in short supply and high demand.  Companies are revamping their 
recruiting strategies, hiring locations, incentives and techniques to ensure that they can attract 
the talent and remain innovative and competitive in the marketplace.  The answer could not be 
that they cannot attract the talent and thus not complete their objectives.  The company would 
then fail in light of their competition’s ability to execute.   
We are better than this obstacle and we have to be better than this obstacle.  In my profession, 
we are presented with problems with “no solution” on a regular basis.  Our role as leaders, is to 
find solutions to the impossible.  Society would not be where it is today if people did not think 
of creative solutions outside of “normal” parameters.  I always encourage my staff to come to 
me with potential solutions to a problem and we work together and strategize to make sure 

121



that they provide the BEST result for the company.  Now, we may be incentivized through 
bonuses or potential for career advancement but you and your peers have the best incentive 
available.  You have the ability to change the lives of our kids and to directly impact the quality 
of programming and education available to them.  That may mean spending additional time 
researching, obtaining expert advice, thinking strategically and in new innovative ways.  The 
reward for coming up with a program that will provide so many benefits will have such a more 
impactful legacy than being known for taking the simplest most direct path of least resistance 
of program cancellation.  Yes – cancelling the program solves the teacher shortage problem 
however, creates a host of new problems including less French teachers for the future 
(perpetuating this issue for future generations), less opportunities for current and future HCDSB 
students, a less attractive board to draw students in the future and a lack of trust from parents 
that the trustees are fighting for and believe in our children.   
As a mother of three and a professional, I strongly believe that the ability that you have to 
influence the progressiveness of programming for our kids is a role that holds an incredible 
amount of importance and responsibility.  I am more than willing to be patient for a decision 
especially providing that I do not  believe that there has been a keen and driven effort into 
trying to determine viable solutions.  The HCDSB has not been able to keep up with their more 
innovative and driven competitors (i.e. Hamilton-Wentworth, TDCSB, Dufferin-Peel, Niagara 
and Halton Public) even with having what should be a competitive advantage of being located 
in the beautiful region of Halton.  The “competitors” are all facing similar constraints and 
pressures and are choosing a different strategic path and vision while we are choosing to admit 
defeat.  If the early FI program is cancelled we are effectively giving up on providing the 
best opportunities to our kids. The path is not easy and I am not suggesting that it will not be 
difficult at times, however, the right answer is not usually the easiest answer in any aspect of 
life.  As I mentioned earlier, the French teachers are not committing to the Halton board, simply 
because the HCDSB is not committed to them.  Please help to change this and please vote for a 
permanent early FI program in the HCDSB.  The current and future generations of the HCDSB 
will thank you. 
Kind regards, 

Andrea Troiano 

Dear Trustees, 

 

I trust you've already received this news and the link to the document below, regarding the 

Labour Market Partnership project lead by the Ontario Public Schools Boards Association (with 

participation from Catholic Boards as well). Earlier this year funding for this project was 

announced. Its work started on May 2017 and by May 2018 an interim report will be published. 

 

http://www.opsba.org/SiteCollectionDocuments/FINAL%20FSL%20Partnership%20Informatio

n%20Sheet%20_%20Nov1.pdf 

 

I just wanted to drive your attention to this last paragraph from the news on the link above, 

which summarizes the outuput 

At the end of Year One the Research Technical Team will produce an 
interim report “Understanding Perspectives regarding the French as a 
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Second Language Teacher Labour Market Issue. ”This report will address 
board recruitment practices, provideag apanalysis comparing factors 
affecting teacher decision making and ananalysis of existing policies and 
procedures and begin to formulate 
Recommendations and strategies to improve the FSL Teacher Labour 
Market issue in Ontario's English public and Catholic school boards. For 
more information, 
Please contact Debra Krutila via email:dkrutila@opsba.org 
 
From: Andrea Troiano <andreatroiano@outlook.com> 
Sent: 07 November 2017 08:25 
To: Iantomasi, Arlene 
Subject: Please vote to keep Early French Immersion  

Good morning Mrs. Iantomasi,  

I am reaching out to you to request your support for the future of the early FI program in our 
Halton Catholic schools.  I am a strong proponent of Early French Immersion for several 
reasons.  I am a graduate of a French Immersion program which began in SK.  The French 
language is deeply embedded in my skill set through my early exposure and participation in an 
early French Immersion program.  My ability and comfort in the French language has provided 
me with many opportunities in my education, including a University level exchange program to 
France, as well as several advantages in my career to date.  My ability to speak French is second 
nature and comes with minimal effort.  As you likely are aware, the earlier exposure to a new 
language will significantly improve the ability of the individual to develop the skills of a second 
language.  With my interest in languages, I also had an interest in developing my Spanish 
language skills at the grade 9 level and beyond.  I had taken several courses throughout high 
school and university to develop my skills in Spanish.  I can say with first hand experience that I 
excelled in French through the FI program, receiving French language awards throughout my 
years in elementary and high school and yet I struggled with retaining my Spanish language 
skills outside of the classroom.  French is embedded in my language skill and I have retained 
and can effectively use the skill set as required and with confidence.  I cannot say the same for 
my Spanish skills although I spent years dedicated to learning the language beginning at age 
14.  I strongly believe that a French program beginning in Grade 5 will have significantly less 
impact on our children and provide minimal benefit in their ability to learn and be comfortable 
with the language.  It is a waste of resources to dedicate a full time staff to this type of 
program.  In my opinion, the resources should be allocated to other Catholic Boards or the 
Public Boards rather than to fulfill an extended French program at the grade 5 level.  The long 
term benefits between this program and the core French programs will be minimal.   

Other boards (public and Catholic – including the TDCSB) are maintaining these programs and 
are expanding them to additional schools (specifically the TDCSB).  I do not believe that we 
should be short changing our students in the HCDSB to have to choose between a Catholic 
education or an effective French program in the public system or to have to move from the 
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Halton Board to obtain a comparable level of Catholic and Early FI education that can be 
offered in other boards.   

The Ontario government is realizing the need to improve the number of French Language 
teachers and I believe that we cannot be too quick to make a decision on cancelling the early FI 
program.  The pilot program currently running is wonderfully received with minimal drop out of 
children.  My daughter has just began the program in Gr. 1 and is excelling in the program and 
loves it.  Her enthusiasm for school has increased significantly from last year and she has 
already learned so much in the past two months.  I ask that you please provide this wonderful, 
positive opportunity for our kids in this continuously global world that we live in.  My daughter 
came home this week and said…”Mom, are they going to cancel French so I can’t do it 
anymore?  And what about Matthew (her brother), will he be able to do French?”  I told her 
that I hoped that she would be able to continue and that the same opportunity would be 
available for both her brothers.  She came home devastated that she may not be able to 
continue to learn the French language in her current capacity.  We cannot take this away from 
our students.  There are options to figure out additional teacher resources to provide this 
program to our kids.  This may require changing the rules, this may require new thinking but 
that is how we advance and how we progress to improve and become better than we are 
today.  We need to show our kids that the easy option is not always the best option.  The 
survey results did show a majority preferring the early French Immersion program.  Please help 
us to keep the early FI program for the kids.  We need to put the best interest of the kids first 
and the best program for them is to have an early FI program which I believe is understood by 
the majority.  

Our responsibility as the parents and trustees is to figure out a way to make that happen.  Our 
jobs are not always easy or do not always take the simplest path, however, if we put the kids 
first and their best interests forward, we are always able to find a way through 
challenges.  Please vote to keep Early French Immersion.  

Thank you in advance, 

Andrea Troiano 

From: Andrea Troiano <andreatroiano@outlook.com> 
Sent: 08 November 2017 10:53 
To: Iantomasi, Arlene 
Subject: Re: Please vote to keep Early French Immersion  
  

Good morning Mrs. Iantomasi, 

Thank you so much for your timely response.  I truly appreciate your feedback and I respect 
your concerns and opinions.  I also respect and thank you for all of the hard work and 
dedication that goes into your role as a HCDSB trustee. 
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I did attend the session last night and am frustrated and disappointed with where we are as a 
board today. We did have wonderful delegate presentations last night which I hope can bring to 
light some potential options. My note is lengthy however, I do ask that you take a moment to 
read and please share with any peers or to anyone that you feel would benefit.  

While I do agree that there are challenges related to hiring French teachers and it proves to be 
a current obstacle, I also believe that we have the ability to come up with viable options to 
sustain this program.  The challenge that you are concerned with regarding a lack of available 
talent is a struggle that many businesses are also faced with on a day to day basis and this is not 
a new issue.  I am a professional with almost 15 years of experience working in three different 
organizations including a professional services firm, a large Canadian public Company and a 
small local private family run business.  In my firm days, we had highly qualified, top tier 
students lined up for the coveted roles in the firm.  Similar to the oversupply of teachers in 
recent years, we had our choice of candidates and our recruiting efforts did not have to be 
altered to attract talent.  Subsequent to my move into industry, the hiring process has changed 
and continues to evolve.  With a smaller pool of qualified and experienced candidates, 
competitor salary pressures and ever changing wants and needs of millennials, the past 
recruiting and hiring processes have had to be re-evaluated, evolved, adapted and expanded.  I 
do not believe that we have really put that effort into our search for French Language 
teachers.  As a trustee for Burlington, I am sure that you see the wonderful opportunities that 
the city provides for people to work, live and play.  Burlington was also named as one of the top 
cities in Canada to live and yet we cannot recruit teachers to work here?  I find that very hard to 
understand.  The other regions of Halton are equally wonderful communities to belong to and 
in my opinion, Halton is the best region in the GTA – yet no one wants to live or work here?   

There are other examples of this type of struggle that I have had visibility to in the past.  I grew 
up in Thunder Bay and we always had issues with doctor shortages.  The city chose to drive 
forward in what was a very difficult path filled with many obstacles to try to improve the 
situation.  They used new ideas, new concepts and community involvement to improve what 
many thought was an “impossible” situation.  They lobbied for a brand new hospital to be built 
to draw physicians and become a northwestern Ontario hub.  They built the Northwestern 
Ontario School of Medicine with preferences to candidates from the region and with 
requirements to practice in the region for a certain length of time.  They spent time at 
universities in Southern Ontario drawing graduate candidates from various disciplines by 
marketing the beauty and advantages of the North.  What would have had happened if they 
had a narrowminded and antiquated approach and simply said, there is not enough doctors to 
fill our need and there is nothing we can do?  They would certainly not be where they are 
today.   

Even in my small, remote community of Thunder Bay, we had robust FI programs from SK to 
Grade 13.  The city does not have a strong French Canadian presence (as opposed to some 
smaller Northern Ontario communities with high French Canadian populations).  There were 
few Francophone families in our program.  I had qualified French teachers from a variety of 
backgrounds including Africa, France and Quebec, among others.  This was in a remote 
northwestern Ontario city……and yet we cannot recruit in Halton?  A deciding factor for many 
French teachers will be the fact that we do not have a permanent program in place.  In a 
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schooling system that thrives on seniority and with French Language qualifications that are in 
demand, it is common sense that the French teachers are not committing to the Halton 
board, simply because the HCDSB is not committed to them.  It is time that we change our 
approach – we are no longer in an environment where the school board has the upper hand 
when it comes to hiring French teachers.  That is a key realization that does not seem to be 
present in the way that the HCDSB is operating today.   

Another relevant business example is that today companies are struggling with finding 
experienced data analytics professionals.  This skill set is emerging and is at the forefront in 
determining insights from information which is the catalyst for developing business 
strategy.  The skill set is in short supply and high demand.  Companies are revamping their 
recruiting strategies, hiring locations, incentives and techniques to ensure that they can attract 
the talent and remain innovative and competitive in the marketplace.  The answer could not be 
that they cannot attract the talent and thus not complete their objectives.  The company would 
then fail in light of their competition’s ability to execute.   

We are better than this obstacle and we have to be better than this obstacle.  In my profession, 
we are presented with problems with “no solution” on a regular basis.  Our role as leaders, is to 
find solutions to the impossible.  Society would not be where it is today if people did not think 
of creative solutions outside of “normal” parameters.  I always encourage my staff to come to 
me with potential solutions to a problem and we work together and strategize to make sure 
that they provide the BEST result for the company.  Now, we may be incentivized through 
bonuses or potential for career advancement but you and your peers have the best incentive 
available.  You have the ability to change the lives of our kids and to directly impact the quality 
of programming and education available to them.  That may mean spending additional time 
researching, obtaining expert advice, thinking strategically and in new innovative ways.  The 
reward for coming up with a program that will provide so many benefits will have such a more 
impactful legacy than being known for taking the simplest most direct path of least resistance 
of program cancellation.  Yes – cancelling the program solves the teacher shortage problem 
however, creates a host of new problems including less French teachers for the future 
(perpetuating this issue for future generations), less opportunities for current and future HCDSB 
students, a less attractive board to draw students in the future and a lack of trust from parents 
that the trustees are fighting for and believe in our kids.   

As a mother of three and a professional, I strongly believe that the ability that you have to 
influence the progressiveness of programming for our kids is a role that holds an incredible 
amount of importance and responsibility.  I am more than willing to be patient for a decision 
especially providing that I do not  believe that there has been a keen and driven effort into 
trying to determine viable solutions.  The HCDSB has not been able to keep up with their more 
innovative and driven competitors (i.e. Hamilton-Wentworth, TDCSB, Dufferin-Peel, Niagara 
and Halton Public) even with having what should be a competitive advantage of being located 
in the beautiful region of Halton.  The “competitors” are all facing similar constraints and 
pressures and are choosing a different strategic path and vision while we are choosing to admit 
defeat.  If the early FI program is cancelled we are effectively giving up on providing the 
best opportunities to our kids. The path is not easy and I am not suggesting that it will not be 
difficult at times, however, the right answer is not usually the easiest answer in any aspect of 
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life.  As I mentioned earlier, the French teachers are not committing to the Halton board, simply 
because the HCDSB is not committed to them.  Please help to change this and please vote for a 
permanent early FI program in the HCDSB.  The current and future generations of the HCDSB 
will thank you. 

Kind regards, 

Andrea Troiano 

 
From: Robert Serpe <robertserpe@gmail.com> 
Sent: 10 November 2017 10:21 
To: Iantomasi, Arlene 
Subject: Early French Immersion  
  
Dear Arlene, 
 
My wife and I were part of a delegation on Tuesday November 7th, with a 5-year old in school 
in Oakville. 

As you may recall, my wife and I moved to Oakville a few years ago from Peel Region, and the 
school system in Oakville was a primary reason for our move. Not surprisingly, we feel early 
French Immersion is essential for the development of our son, and other small children into 
successful members of our community as they grow. In fact, we all heard a Ph.D in cognitive 
behaviour that confirmed this exact fact and that the issue of equity and English language 
development are not adversely impacted.   

Most importantly, we saw that the Minister of Education, the single most important person in 
the education space, spoke directly to the HCDSB, saying that the Board does not need to make 
a decision it doesn’t want to make as they are working on a plan to bring new teachers into the 
FI program. 

I was very disappointed to learn that you are leaning against keeping a program that is so 
enriching and so important for our children. During my presentation, I explicitly highlighted 
that, as Trustees, you are accountable to the voters that put you in office.  
 
I am hoping you take the information presented with careful consideration when you make you 
decision, especially heading back to voters with a message that French immersion for our most 
vulnerable and eager children doesn’t matter. 

 

Regards, 

Rob 
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On Nov 16, 2017, at 11:57 AM, Rocio Zavala <rociozavala@gmail.com> wrote: 

Dear Trustees, 

  

Now that the AdHoc Committee clearly failed its mandate, I’m writing to you to ask you 
to please vote in favour of making EFI a permanent program. The future of this valuable 
program and the future of our children is in your hands now.  

  

As you have heard from the many delegations presented during the last meeting, the 
EFI program is totally worth keeping. Across the province, EFI is gaining popularity. If 
you chose to terminate the program now, are you sure that you will not be forced to 
reconsider implementing the program again in the near future? The demand is out there 
-undeniably- and the HCDSB needs to remain competitive in relation to the public 
board. 

  

The Ministry of Education is already putting a lot of effort into solving the hiring issue. 
PLEASE don’t give up now. Don’t make a decision that you can later regret. We cannot 
afford losing current students or prospective students to the public board because this 
demand is not met at our Board. 

  

Please ask yourselves: am I deciding to terminate the program simply because I don’t 
want to deal with the challenge? Or because I believe the program has no value for 
catholic children in Halton? 

  

Many, many eyes are on you right now: concerned parents of current students, parents 
of prospective students, our families, ours priests, our neighbours, the media. Please 
make the right decision, not the easy one. 

  

Thank you very much for taking the time to read my email. May God guide you in your 
decision and bless you and your families. 

  

Rocio 
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Dear Trustees, 

You have a very difficult and emotionally-charged decision in front of you regarding the future 

of French instruction in the HCDSB. 

I am a parent of a child in the extended French program at Holy Rosary in Milton. We 

experienced the French teacher shortage first hand in the 2016/17 school year. The grade five 

teacher was on maternity leave and the contracted-teacher experienced an emergency that 

required her to be out of the classroom from November to March. As a result of the shortage, an 

English teacher was hired as the long-term supply and our children only received a fraction of 

the French instruction they should have. The board and school did the best they could with the 

resources available, but it did cost our children. 

When we first enrolled in the HCDSB, I have to admit that I was concerned about the grade 5 

entry into the French program. But I quickly saw what the program co-ordinator had told me – 

the later entry did help my daughter establish strong reading and writing skills, before adding the 

new language.  

My younger daughter is currently in grade 3. When she was entering grade 1, my husband and I 

made the decision to keep her in the English stream with the intention of enrolling her in the 

extended French program.  

Again, I understand the difficult decision before you – and I experienced first-hand why it’s not 

feasible to keep both programs going.  

My only ask is that, should you choose to phase out the extended French program, you 

grandfather the children who are currently in grades 1-4 of the English stream. If you were to 

stop enrollment this coming fall, those children will be left with no options. We cannot leave 

those children behind.   

Kind regards, 

 

Jennifer Marvin 
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Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Halton Catholic District School Board are 

the responsibility of the Board management and have been prepared in accordance with the Financial 

Administration Act, supplemented by Ontario Ministry of Education memorandum 2004:B2 and Ontario 

Regulation 395/11 of the Financial Administration Act, as described in Note 1 to the consolidated 

financial statements.   

A summary of the significant accounting policies are described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial 

statements.  The preparation of consolidated financial statements necessarily involves the use of 

estimates based on management’s judgment, particularly when transactions affecting the current 

accounting period cannot be finalized with certainty until future periods. 

Board management maintains a system of internal controls designed to provide reasonable assurance 

that assets are safeguarded, transactions are properly authorized and recorded in compliance with 

legislative and regulatory requirements, and reliable financial information is available on a timely basis 

for preparation of the consolidated financial statements. These systems are monitored and evaluated 

by management. 

The Audit Committee meets with management and the external auditors to review the consolidated 

financial statements and discuss any significant financial reporting or internal control matters prior to 

the Boards approval of the consolidated financial statements. 

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by KPMG LLP, independent external auditors 

appointed by the Board. The accompanying Independent Auditors’ Report outlines their responsibilities, 

the scope of their examination and their opinion on the Board’s consolidated financial statements. 

 

 

 

    
       Paula Dawson   Roxana Negoi 
                   Director of Education        Superintendent of Business Services 
               and Secretary of the Board               and Treasurer of the Board 
 

 
November 21, 2017 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
To the Board of Trustees of the Halton Catholic District School Board: 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Halton 
Catholic District School Board, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at August 31, 2017, the consolidated statements of operations, change in 
net debt and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.   

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with the basis of accounting described in Note 1 to the 
consolidated financial statements, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements 
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to 
the entity's preparation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.  An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audit is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Halton Catholic District 
School Board as at August 31, 2017 and for the year then ended, are prepared, in all 
material respects, in accordance with the basis of accounting described in Note 1 to 
the consolidated financial statements. 

Basis of Accounting 

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 to the consolidated 
financial statements which describes the basis of accounting used in the preparation 
of these consolidated financial statements and the significant differences between 
such basis of accounting and Canadian public sector accounting standards.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 
 
November 21, 2017 
Hamilton, Canada 
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HALTON CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
 
As at August 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016 
 

   2017 2016 

    

Financial Assets 
 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 13,965,308 $ 16,841,688 
Accounts receivable (note 2)  19,367,032 17,358,460 
Assets held for sale (note 3) 5,996,436 5,996,436 
Long-term receivable – Government of Ontario (note 4) 179,503,360 197,336,349 

Total financial assets 218,832,136 237,532,933 

 

Financial Liabilities 
 
Temporary borrowing (note 5) 42,012,814 56,480,630 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 17,483,566 18,112,460 
Deferred revenue (note 6) 15,887,169 16,324,204 
Retirement and other employee future benefits payable (note 7) 5,979,356 6,619,443 
Net long-term liabilities (note 8) 181,124,311 191,747,370 
Deferred capital contributions (note 9) 406,152,182 403,495,786 

Total financial liabilities 668,639,398 692,779,893 

 

Net debt (449,807,262) (455,246,960) 
 

Non-Financial Assets 
 
Prepaid expenses 354,491 - 
Tangible capital assets (note 10) 568,051,666 557,282,951 

Total non-financial assets 568,406,157 557,282,951 

 

Accumulated surplus (note 11) $ 118,598,895 $ 102,035,991 

  

Contractual obligations and contingent liabilities (note 16) 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 

 

 

 

______________________ ______________________ 
Paula Dawson,  Diane Rabenda,  
Director of Education and Chair of the Board 
Secretary of the Board  
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HALTON CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
 
Consolidated Statement of Operations 
 
For the year ended August 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016 
 

  2017 2017 2016 
 Budget Actual Actual  

      

     
Revenues: 

Provincial legislative grants (note 12) $ 339,251,919 $ 343,452,394 $ 334,007,940 
Provincial grants – other 2,296,977  3,331,646  2,416,751 

  341,548,896  346,784,040  336,424,691 
 
Federal grants and fees 1,637,646  2,302,485  1,612,107 
Other fees and revenues 13,620,759  19,712,360  8,889,309 
Investment income 50,000  149,546  78,543 
School fundraising  12,500,000  12,746,653  12,665,806 
Amortization of deferred capital contributions 14,746,120  15,313,465  14,505,808 

Total revenue 384,103,421 397,008,549 374,176,264 
 
Expenses: 

Instruction 289,328,682 294,211,682 286,105,516 
Administration 9,654,621 9,984,732 9,330,568 
Transportation 7,313,781 7,376,125 6,732,953 
Pupil accommodation 55,518,305 54,524,673 53,334,617 
Other 1,497,235 1,790,293 1,606,077 
School funded activities  12,500,000 12,558,140  12,762,942 

Total expenses (note 13) 375,812,624 380,445,645 369,872,673 
 

Annual surplus 8,290,797 16,562,904 4,303,591 
 

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year  102,035,991 102,035,991 97,732,400 
 

Accumulated surplus, end of year (note 11) $ 110,326,788 $ 118,598,895 $ 102,035,991 

 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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HALTON CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
 
Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Debt 
 
For the year ended August 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016 
 

  2017 2017 2016 

 Budget Actual Actual 

 
Annual surplus $ 8,290,797 $ 16,562,904 $ 4,303,591 
 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets  (27,406,310)  (27,406,310)  (25,696,574) 
Disposal of tangible capital assets  -  248,757  39,832 
Amortization of tangible capital assets  16,365,046  16,388,838  15,864,140 
Use of prepaid expenses  -  (354,491)  - 

 
Change in net debt  (2,750,467)  5,439,698  (5,489,011) 

 
Net debt, beginning of year   (455,246,960)  (455,246,960)  (449,757,949) 
 

Net debt, end of year $ (457,997,427) $ (449,807,262) $ (455,246,960) 

 

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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HALTON CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
 
For the year ended August 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016 
 

   2017 2016 

       
Cash provided by (used in): 

 
Operating Activities: 
Annual surplus $ 16,562,904 $ 4,303,591 
Items not involving cash: 

Amortization of tangible capital assets 16,388,838 15,864,140 
Change in employee future benefits (640,087) 474,304 
Amortization of deferred capital contributions (15,313,465) (14,505,808) 
Disposal of tangible capital assets 248,757 - 

Change in non-cash assets and liabilities: 
Accounts receivable (2,008,572) (3,152,798) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (628,894) 7,487,151 
Deferred revenue (437,035) 6,353,741 
Prepaid expenses (354,491) - 

Net change in cash from operating activities 13,817,955 16,824,321 
 

Capital Activities: 
Gain transferred to deferred revenue - (6,734,323) 
Net proceeds on the sale of assets - 12,061,131 
Cash used to acquire tangible capital assets (27,406,310) (25,696,574) 

Net change in cash from capital activities (27,406,310) (20,369,766) 
 
Financing Activities: 

Increase to deferred capital contributions 17,969,861 31,713,044 
Decrease (increase) in long-term receivable  
     – Government of Ontario 17,832,989 (7,753,774) 
Debt principal repayments (10,623,059) (10,109,648) 

Net change in cash from financing activities 25,179,791 13,849,622 
 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 11,591,436 10,304,177 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year (39,638,942) (49,943,119) 
 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ (28,047,506) $ (39,638,942) 

 

 
The components of cash and cash equivalents are as follows: 
 

 2017 2016 

 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 13,965,308 $ 16,841,688 
Temporary borrowings (42,012,814) (56,480,630) 
 

 $ (28,047,506) $ (39,638,942) 

 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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HALTON CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended August 31, 2017 
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1. Significant accounting policies: 

The consolidated financial statements of the Halton Catholic District School Board (the “Board”) 

are prepared by management in accordance with the basis of accounting described below. 

Significant accounting policies of the Board are as follows:  

(a) Basis of accounting:  

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Financial 

Administration Act supplemented by Ontario Ministry of Education memorandum 2004:B2 and 

Ontario Regulation 395/11 of the Financial Administration Act.   

The Financial Administration Act requires that the consolidated financial statements be 

prepared in accordance with the accounting principles determined by the relevant Ministry of 

the Province of Ontario.  A directive was provided by the Ontario Ministry of Education within 

memorandum 2004:B2 requiring school boards to adopt Canadian public sector accounting 

standards commencing with their year ended August 31, 2004 and that changes may be 

required to the application of these standards as a result of regulation. 

In 2011, the government passed Ontario Regulation 395/11 of the Financial Administration Act.  

The Regulation requires that contributions received or receivable for the acquisition or 

development of depreciable tangible capital assets and contributions of depreciable tangible 

capital assets for use in providing services, be recorded as deferred capital contributions and 

be recognized as revenue in the statement of operations over the periods during which the 

asset is used to provide service at the same rate that amortization is recognized in respect of 

the related asset.  The regulation further requires that if the net book value of the depreciable 

tangible capital asset is reduced for any reason other than depreciation, a proportionate 

reduction of the deferred capital contribution along with a proportionate increase in the revenue 

be recognized. For Ontario school boards, these contributions include government transfers, 

externally restricted contributions and, historically, property tax revenue.  

The accounting policy requirements under Regulation 395/11 are significantly different from 

the requirements of Canadian public sector accounting standards which requires that:  

 government transfers, which do not contain a stipulation that creates a liability, be 

recognized as revenue by the recipient  when approved by the transferor and the 

eligibility criteria have been met in accordance with public sector accounting standard 

PS3410; 

 externally restricted contributions be recognized as revenue in the period in which the 

resources are used for the purpose or purposes specified in accordance with public 

sector accounting standard PS3100; and   

 property taxation revenue be reported as revenue when received or receivable in 

accordance with public sector accounting standard PS3510.  

As a result, revenue recognized in the consolidated statement of operations and certain related 

deferred revenues and deferred capital contributions would be recorded differently under 

Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards. 
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(b) Reporting entity: 

The consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of 

the reporting entity.  The reporting entity is comprised of all organizations accountable for the 

administration of their financial affairs and resources to the Board and which are controlled by 

the Board. 

School generated funds, which include the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of various 

organizations that exist at the school level and which are controlled by the Board are reflected 

in the consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated entities: 

 School Generated Funds 

Proportionately consolidated entities: 

 Halton Student Transportation Services 

Interdepartmental and inter-organizational transactions and balances between these 

organizations are eliminated. 

(c) Trust funds: 

Trust funds and their related operations administered by the Board are not included in the 

consolidated financial statements, as these funds are not controlled by the Board. 

(d) Cash and cash equivalents: 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash on hand and short-term investments.  Short-term 

investments are highly liquid, subject to insignificant risk of changes in value and have a short 

maturity term of less than 90 days. 

(e) Deferred revenue: 

Certain amounts are received pursuant to legislation, regulation or agreement and may only 

be used in the conduct of certain programs or in the delivery of specific services and 

transactions.  These amounts are recognized as revenue in the fiscal year the related expenses 

are incurred or services performed. 

(f)  Deferred capital contributions: 

Contributions received or receivable for the purpose of acquiring or developing depreciable 

tangible capital assets for use in providing services, or any contributions of depreciable tangible 

assets received or receivable for use in providing services, are recorded as deferred capital 

contributions when the asset has been acquired as required by Ontario Regulation 395/11. 

Amounts are recognized as revenue in the statement of operations at the same rate and over 

the same periods as the related asset is amortized. 
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(g) Retirement and other employee future benefits: 

The Board provides defined retirement and other future benefits to specified employee groups. 

These benefits include pension, life insurance, and health care benefits, dental benefits, 

retirement gratuity, worker’s compensation and long-term disability benefits.  

As part of ratified labour collective agreements for unionized employees that bargain centrally 

and ratified central discussions with the principals and vice-principals associations, the 

following Employee Life and Health Trusts (ELHTs) were established in 2016-17: OECTA, 

CUPE, APSSP and a trust for non-unionized employees including principals and vice-

principals. The ELHTs provide health, life and dental benefits to teachers (excluding daily 

occasional teachers), education workers (excluding casual and temporary staff), other school 

board staff and retired individuals up to a school board’s participation date into the ELHT.  

These benefits are being provided through a joint governance structure between the 

bargaining/employee groups, school board trustees associations and the Government of 

Ontario.  Starting February 1, 2017, the Board is no longer responsible to provide certain 

benefits to OECTA. By February 1, 2018, all employees will be transitioned to the ELHTs. 

Beginning in the 2016-17 school year, school boards whose employee groups transitioned their 

health, dental and life benefits to the ELHT are required to remit a negotiated amount per full-

time equivalency (FTE) on a monthly basis. Funding for the ELHTs is based on the existing 

benefits funding embedded within the Grants for Student Needs (GSN) and additional Ministry 

funding in the form of a Crown contribution and Stabilization Adjustment.   

The Board continues to provide health, dental and life insurance benefits for retired individuals 

and the following employee groups principals, vice principals, educational assistants and non-

union staff that have not yet transferred into an ELHT and continues to have a liability for 

payment of benefits for those who are on long-term disability and for some who are retired 

under these plans.   

The Board has adopted the following policies with respect to accounting for these employee 

benefits: 

The costs of self-insured retirement and other employee future benefit plans are actuarially 

determined using management’s best estimate of salary escalation, accumulated sick days at 

retirement, insurance and health care costs trends, disability recovery rates, long-term inflation 

rates and discount rates. In prior years, the cost of retirement gratuities that vested or 

accumulated over the periods of service provided by the employee were actuarially determined 

using management’s best estimate of salary escalation, accumulated sick days at retirement 

and discount rates.  As a result of the plan change, the cost of retirement gratuities were 

actuarially determined using the employee’s salary, banked sick days and years of service as 

at August 31, 2012 and management’s best estimate of discount rates. The changes resulted 

in a plan curtailment and any unamortized actuarial gains and losses were recognized as at 

August 31, 2012. Any actuarial gains and losses arising from changes to the discount rate are 

amortized over the expected average remaining service life of the employee group.   
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(g) Retirement and other employee future benefits (continued): 

For self-insured retirement and other employee future benefits that vest or accumulated over 

the periods of service provided by employees, such as life insurance and health care benefits 

for retirees, the cost is actuarially determined using the projected benefits method prorated on 

service. Under this method, the benefit costs are recognized over the expected average service 

life of the employee group.   

For those self-insured benefit obligations that arise from specific events that occur from time to 

time, such as obligations for worker’s compensation, long-term disability and life insurance and 

health care benefits for those on disability leave, the cost is recognized immediately in the 

period the events occur. Any actuarial gains and losses that are related to these benefits are 

recognized immediately in the period they arise. 

(i) The costs of multi-employer defined pension plan benefits, such as the Ontario 

Municipal Employee Retirement System pensions, are the employer’s contributions 

due to the plan in the period; 

(ii) The costs of insured benefits are the employer’s portion of insurance premiums owed 

for coverage of employees during the period. 
  

146



 
HALTON CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended August 31, 2017 
 

 

12 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(h) Tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at historical cost less accumulated amortization. Historical 

cost includes amounts that are directly attributable to acquisition, construction, development or 

betterment of the asset, as well as interest related to financing during construction. When 

historical cost records were not available, other methods were used to estimate the costs and 

accumulated amortization.  

Tangible capital assets, except land, are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated 

useful lives as follows: 

 

Asset Estimated Useful Life - Years 

 
Land improvements  15 years 
Buildings  40 years 
Furniture & equipment  5-15 years 
Computer hardware  5 years 
Computer software  5 years 
Vehicles  5-10 years 

 

Annual amortization is charged in the year of acquisition and in the year of disposal.  Assets 

under construction and assets that relate to pre-acquisition and pre-construction costs are not 

amortized until the asset is available for productive use. 

Land permanently removed from service and held for sale is recorded at the lower of cost and 

estimated net realizable value.  Cost includes amounts for improvements to prepare the land 

for sale or servicing. Buildings permanently removed from service and held for sale cease to 

be amortized and are recorded at the lower of carrying value and estimated net realizable 

value.  Tangible capital assets which meet the criteria for financial assets are reclassified as 

“assets held for sale” on the consolidated statement of financial position. 

(i) Government transfers: 

Government transfers, which include legislative grants, are recognized in the consolidated 

financial statements in the period in which events giving rise to the transfer occur, providing the 

transfers are authorized, any eligibility criteria have been met and reasonable estimates of the 

amount can be made.  If government transfers contain stipulations which give rise to a liability, 

they are deferred and recognized in revenue when the stipulations are met. 

Government transfers for capital are deferred as required by Regulation 395/11, recorded as 

deferred capital contributions (DCC) and recognized as revenue in the consolidated statement 

of operations at the same rate and over the same periods as the tangible capital asset is 

amortized. 
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(j) Investment income: 

Investment income is reported as revenue in the period earned.  When required by the funding 

government or related Act, investment income earned on externally restricted funds such as 

pupil accommodation, education development charges and special education forms part of the 

respective deferred revenue balances. 

(k) Budget figures: 

Budget figures have been provided for comparison purposes and have been derived from the 

budget approved by the Board of Trustees (Trustees).  The budget approved by the Trustees 

is developed in accordance with the provincially mandated funding model for school boards 

and is used to manage program spending within the guidelines of the funding model.   

(l) Use of estimates: 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with the basis of accounting 

described in Note 1(a) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 

the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 

at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and 

expenses during the year.  Actual results could differ from these current estimates. These 

estimates are reviewed periodically and, as adjustments become necessary, they are reported 

in net expenses in the periods in which they become known.  Significant estimates include 

assumptions used in estimating the collectability of accounts receivable to determine the 

allowance for doubtful accounts, in estimating provisions for accrued liabilities and in 

performing actuarial valuations of employee future benefits liabilities. 

 

2. Accounts receivable: 

Accounts receivable consists of the following: 

 

  2017 2016 

 
Government of Canada $ 2,993,637 $ 2,189,718 
Government of Ontario  2,817,556  2,398,781 
Local governments  11,378,000  10,737,560 
Other  2,177,839  2,032,401 

 

  $ 19,367,032 $ 17,358,460 

 

3. Assets held for sale: 

As of August 31, 2017, $5,996,436 (2016 - $5,996,436) related to land was recorded as assets 

held for sale. 
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4. Long-term receivable – Government of Ontario: 

The Province of Ontario replaced variable capital funding with a one-time debt support grant in 

2009-10.  The Board received a one-time grant that recognizes capital debt as of August 31, 2010 

that is supported by the existing capital programs.  The Board will receive this grant in cash over 

the remaining term of the existing capital debt instruments.  The Board may also receive yearly 

capital grants to support capital programs which would be reflected in this account receivable. 

The Board has an account receivable from the Province of Ontario of $179,503,360 as at August 

31, 2017 (2016 - $197,336,349) with respect to this capital grant. 

 

5. Temporary borrowing: 

To address operating requirements and to bridge capital expenses, the Board has an operating 

line of credit and short-term loans.   

The operating line of credit bears interest at the bank’s prime lending rate less 0.75%, is unsecured, 

is due on demand, and has a maximum limit of $39,986,459.  As at August 31, 2017, the amount 

drawn under the operating line of credit was $nil (2016 - $nil). 

The short-term loans bear interest at the bank’s prime lending rate less 0.75%, are unsecured, and 

are due on dates ranging from on demand to October 26, 2017.  As at August 31, 2017, the Board 

has short-term loans of $42,012,814 (2016 - $56,480,630). 
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6. Deferred revenue: 

Revenues received and that have been set aside for specific purposes by legislation, regulation or 

agreement are included in deferred revenue and reported on the consolidated statement of financial 

position. 

Deferred revenue set-aside for specific purposes by legislation, regulation or agreement as at 

August 31, 2017 is comprised of: 

 

  Balance as Externally Revenue Transfer to Balance as 

  at August 31, restricted recognized deferred  at August 31, 

  2016 revenue and in the capital 2017 
  investment period contributions  

  income  (Note 9)  

  
Special education $ 1,706,823 $ 42,123,681 $(42,002,761) $ - $ 1,827,743 
Mental health leader  7,416  121,161  (126,520)  -  2,057 
Proceeds of disposition  7,596,236  42,346  -  -  7,638,582 
Retrofit for child care  1,032,200  -  -  -  1,032,200 
School renewal  3,152,261  4,345,496  (1,324,131)  (4,909,348)  1,264,278 
International Students  
  Tuition   2,099,503  3,169,940  (2,225,683)  -  3,043,760 
Other  729,765  37,663,273  (36,384,801)  (929,688)  1,078,549 

  $ 16,324,204 $ 87,465,897 $(82,063,896) $ (5,839,036) $ 15,887,169 

 

7. Retirement and other employee future benefits: 

 

  2017 2016 

   Other Total Total 
 Retirement and other  employee employee employee 

 employee future Retirement future future future 
 benefit liabilities benefits benefits benefits benefits 

 
Accrued employee future 

benefit obligations at 
August 31 $ 3,704,572 $ 2,468,681 $ 6,173,253 $ 6,924,081 

  
Less: Unamortized actuarial  
 loss at August 31  (193,897)  -  (193,897)  (304,638) 
 

Employee future benefits liability 
at August 31 $ 3,510,675 $ 2,468,681 $ 5,979,356 $ 6,619,443 
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7. Retirement and other employee future benefits (continued): 

 

  2017 2016 

   Other Total Total 
 Retirement and other  employee employee employee 

   employee future Retirement future future future 
   benefit expenses benefits benefits benefits benefits 

 
Current year benefit expense $ 141,740 $ 354,154 $ 495,894 $ 549,798 
Cost of plan amendment  -  -  -  909,578 
Interest on accrued benefit 
 obligation  81,966  48,690  130,686  148,495 
 

Employee future benefits  
expenses $ 223,736 $ 402,844 $ 626,580 $ 1,607,871 

 

Total payments made during 
the year $ (694,097) $ (572,570) $ (1,266,667) $ (1,133,567) 

 

Included in the current year benefit expense is $38,746 (2016 - $93,738) for amortization of the 

actuarial loss.  The unamortized actuarial loss is amortized over the expected average remaining 

service life of 11.05 years (2016 - 12.05 years).  The actuarial gain for the year was $71,995 (2016 

- $19,377).   

Retirement benefits: 

(i) Ontario Teacher’s Pension Plan: 

Teachers and related employee groups are eligible to be members of Ontario Teacher’s 

Pension Plan.  Employer contributions for these employees are provided directly by the 

Province of Ontario.  The pension costs and obligations related to this plan are the direct 

responsibility of the Province.  Accordingly, no costs or liabilities related to this plan are included 

in the Board’s consolidated financial statements. 
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7. Retirement and other employee future benefits (continued): 

Retirement benefits (continued): 

(ii) Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System: 

All non-teaching and support staff employees of the Board are eligible to be members of the 

Ontario Municipal Employees’ Retirement System (OMERS), a multi-employer pension plan.  

The plan provides defined pension benefits to employees based on their length of service and 

rates of pay.  The Board contributions equal the employee contributions to the plan.  During 

the year ended August 31, 2017, the Board contributed $4,322,837 (2016 - $4,286,839) to the 

plan.  As this is a multi-employer pension plan, these contributions are the Board’s pension 

benefit expenses.  No pension liability for this type of plan is included in the Board’s 

consolidated financial statements. 

The OMERS pension plan had a deficit as at December 31, 2016 based on the actuarial 

valuation of the pension benefit obligation resulting in the plan being 93.4 percent funded (2015 

– 91.5 percent funded). Ongoing adequacy of the current contribution rates will need to be 

monitored and may lead to increased future funding requirements.  

(iii) Gratuity benefits: 

The Board provides gratuities to certain groups of employees hired prior to specified dates. 

The Board provides these benefits through an unfunded defined benefit plan. The benefit costs 

and liabilities related to this plan are included in the Board’s consolidated financial statements. 

The amount of the gratuities payable to eligible employees is based on their salary, 

accumulated sick days, and years of service at August 31, 2012.  

(iv) Retirement life insurance and health care benefits: 

The Board provides life insurance, dental and health care benefits to certain employee groups 

after retirement until the members reach 65 years of age.  The premiums are based on the 

Board experience and retirees’ premiums may be subsidized by the Board. The benefit costs 

and liabilities related to the plan are provided through an unfunded defined benefit plan and 

are included in the Board’s consolidated financial statements. Effective September 1, 2013, 

employees retiring on or after this date, will no longer qualify for Board subsidized premiums 

or contributions.   
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7. Retirement and other employee future benefits (continued): 

Other employee future benefits: 

(i) Workplace Safety and Insurance Board obligations: 

The Board is a Schedule 2 employer under the Workplace Safety and Insurance Act and, as 

such, assumes responsibility for the payment of all claims to its injured workers under the Act.  

The Board does not fund these obligations in advance of payments made under the Act.  The 

benefit costs and liabilities related to this plan are included in the Board’s consolidated financial 

statements. School boards are required to provide salary top-up to a maximum of 4 ½ years 

for employees receiving payments from the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board, where the 

collective agreement negotiated prior to 2012 included such a provision. 

(ii) Long-term disability life insurance and health care benefits: 

The Board provides life insurance, dental and health care benefits to employees on long-term 

disability leave who are not yet members of an ELHT.  The Board is responsible for the payment 

of life insurance and the health care and dental premiums benefits under this plan.  The Board 

provides these benefits through an unfunded defined benefit plan.  The costs of salary 

compensation paid to employees on long-term disability leave are fully insured and not included 

in this plan. 

(iii) Sick leave benefits: 

As a result of new changes made in 2013 to the short-term sick leave and disability plan, a 

maximum of 11 unused sick leave days from the current year may be carried forward into the 

following year only, to be used to top-up salary for illnesses paid through the short-term leave 

and disability plan in that year. The benefit costs expensed in the 2017 consolidated financial 

statements as a result of the change in the benefits was $180,531 (2016 - $125,587).  
 

The accrued benefit obligations for employee future benefit plans as at August 31, 2017 are based 

on the most recent actuarial valuations completed for accounting purposes as at August 31, 2017. 

These valuations take into account the plan changes outlined above and the economic 

assumptions used in these valuations are the Board’s best estimates of expected rates of: 

 

  2017 2016 

 
Inflation 1.5% 1.5% 
Wage and salary escalation 0% 0% 
Insurance and health care cost escalation 8% decreasing by 8% decreasing by 
 ¼% each year to 4.0% ¼% each year to 4.0% 
Dental cost escalation  4% decreasing by 4% decreasing by 
 ¼% each year to 3.0% ¼% each year to 3.0% 
Discount on accrued benefit obligations 2.55% 2.05% 
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8. Net long-term liabilities: 

 

  2017 2016 

    
OSBFC (2000) – F10, repayable in semi-annual  
 installments of $959,133 plus interest at 7.20% per annum, 
 maturing June 9, 2025 $ 11,513,228 $ 12,546,420 
OSBFC (2001) – A3, repayable in semi-annual  
 installments of $2,515,121 plus interest at 6.55% per annum, 
 maturing October 19, 2026  35,164,491  37,763,116 
OFA (2003) – A2, repayable in semi-annual  
 installments of $189,051 plus interest at 5.80% per annum, 
 maturing November 7, 2028  3,141,254  3,328,959 
OFA (2006) – repayable in semi-annual  
 installments of $23,381 plus interest at 4.56% per annum, 
 maturing November 15, 2031  492,159  515,672 
OFA (2007) – A1, repayable in semi-annual 
 installments of $1,117,034 plus interest at 5.38% per annum, 
 maturing June 25, 2032  23,906,805  24,922,509 
OFA (2008) – F02, repayable in semi-annual 
 installments of $17,597 plus interest at 4.90% per annum, 
 maturing March 3, 2033  383,905  399,704 
OFA (2008) – F03, repayable in semi-annual 
 installments of $26,107 plus interest at 4.83% per annum, 
 maturing March 3, 2033  572,376  596,082 
OFA (2009) – repayable in semi-annual 
 installments of $908,987 plus interest at 5.06% per annum, 
 maturing March 13, 2034  20,425,082  21,180,346 
OFA (2009) – A3, repayable in semi-annual 
 installments of $61,119 plus interest at 5.06% per annum, 
 maturing March 13, 2034  1,373,350  1,424,133 
OFA (2010) – F02, repayable in semi-annual  
 installments of $738,166 plus interest at 5.23% per annum,  
 maturing April 13, 2035  17,027,294  17,590,559 
OSBFC (2010) – repayable in semi- annual 
 installments of $1,294,708, plus interest at 3.94% per annum,  
 maturing September 19, 2025  18,268,096  20,083,536 
OFA (2011) – repayable in semi-annual  
 installments of $719,169 plus interest at 2.43% per annum, 
 maturing November 15, 2021  6,096,954  7,364,344 
OFA (2012) – F02, repayable in semi-annual  
 installments of $357,767 plus interest at 3.56% per annum, 
 maturing March 9, 2037  10,105,865  10,451,949 
OFA (2014) – F02, repayable in semi-annual 
 installments of $1,068,719 plus interest at 4.00% per annum, 
 maturing on March 11, 2039  30,907,667  31,781,549 
OFA (2015) – repayable in semi-annual 
 installments of $53,072 plus interest at 2.99% per annum,  
 maturing on March 9, 2040  1,745,785  1,798,492 

  $ 181,124,311 $ 191,747,370 
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8. Net long-term liabilities (continued): 

Principal payments relating to net debt of $181,124,311 are due as follows: 

 

  Principal Interest Total 

 
2017/18 $ 11,164,925 $ 9,041,340 $ 20,206,265 
2018/19 11,736,924  8,469,341  20,206,265 
2018/19 12,340,840  7,865,425  20,206,265 
2020/21 12,978,568 7,227,697 20,206,265 
2021/22 12,932,950 6,554,146 19,487,096 
Thereafter 119,970,104 34,779,346 154,749,450 

  $ 181,124,311 $ 73,937,295 $ 255,061,606 

 

The expenditure for debt charges includes principal and interest payments as follows: 

 

 2017  2016 

    
Principal payments on long-term liabilities $ 10,623,059 $ 10,109,648 
Interest payments on long-term liabilities  9,583,206  10,096,617 
 

  $ 20,206,265 $ 20,206,265 

 
9. Deferred capital contributions:  

Deferred capital contributions include grants and contributions received that are used for the 

acquisition of tangible capital assets in accordance with Ontario Regulation 395/11 that have been 

expended by year end.  The contributions are amortized into revenue over the life of the asset 

acquired.   

 

  2017 2016 

    
Opening balance, September 1 $ 403,495,786 $ 386,288,550 
 
Additions to deferred capital contributions   12,130,825  20,677,385 
 
Transfer from deferred revenue (note 6)   5,839,036  11,035,659 
 
Amortization of deferred capital contributions  (15,313,465)  (14,505,808) 
     

Ending balance, August 31 $ 406,152,182 $ 403,495,786 
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10.  Tangible capital assets: 
 
Year ended August 31, 2017 

 

 Cost Accumulated Amortization 

     Transfers,  Transfers,  Net book Net book 

 Balance at Additions disposals Balance at Balance at  disposals Balance at value value 

 August 31, and and August 31, August 31,  and August 31, August 31, August 31, 

 2016 transfers write offs 2017 2016 Amortization write offs 2017 2017 2016 

 

Land $ 125,059,546 $ 10,356,148 $ - $ 135,415,694  - $ - $ - $ - $ 135,415,694 $ 125,059,546 

Land improvements 18,023,943 2,153,506 - 20,177,449 5,877,679 1,098,537 - 6,976,216  13,201,233 12,146,264 

Buildings 534,619,248 28,681,657 632,600 562,668,305 137,013,623 13,478,404 383,843  150,108,184 412,560,121 397,605,625 

Construction in progress 15,513,805 3,446,323 18,347,953 612,175 - - - - 612,175 15,513,805 

Furniture and equipment 10,069,329 340,017 1,083,740 9,325,606 5,408,962 976,835 1,083,740 5,302,057 4,023,549 4,660,367 

Computer hardware 3,537,034 605,857 527,765 3,615,126 1,801,656 715,217 527,765 1,989,108 1,626,018 1,735,378 

Computer software 208,519 - 5,108 203,411 146,983 41,193 5,108 183,068  20,343 61,536 

Vehicles 75,934 139,802  -  215,736 22,062 29,167 - 51,229 164,507 53,872 

Pre-acquisition costs (PAC) 273,362 30,953 - 304,315 - - - - 304,315 273,362 

Leasehold Improvements 1,928,336 - 1,454,370 473,966 1,755,140 49,485 1,454,370 350,255 123,711 173,196 

 $ 709,309,056 $  45,754,263  $ 22,051,536  $ 733,011,783     $152,026,105 $  16,388,838 $  3,454,826 $ 164,960,118 $ 568,051,666 $ 557,282,951 
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10. Tangible capital assets (continued): 
 

(a) Assets Under Construction: 

Assets under construction having a value of $612,175 (2016 - $15,513,805) have not been 

amortized.  Amortization of these assets will commence when the asset is put into service. 

 

(b) Write-down of Tangible Capital Assets: 

The write-down of tangible capital assets during the year was $248,757 (2016 - $nil). 

 

11. Accumulated surplus: 

Accumulated surplus consists of the following:  

 

  2017 2016 

   
Available for compliance - unappropriated 
Total operating surplus $ 546,516 $ 330,396 
 
Available for compliance – internally appropriated 
 Operating reserve  3,405,718  2,505,718 

School budgets  198,389  285,455 
Facility capital reserve  7,384,186  5,383,537 
Capital capacity planning  70,533  70,533 
Committed capital interest earned  1,519,991  1,596,373 
Committed capital projects  7,963,740  8,129,031 
Other programs  262,053  - 

  21,351,126  18,301,043 
Unavailable for compliance 

Employee future benefit  (4,678,031)  (5,136,250) 
Interest accrual  (2,662,763)  (2,821,514) 
School generated funds  3,355,028  3,166,515 
Revenues recognized for land  101,233,535  88,526,197 

   97,247,769  83,734,948 

   

Balance, end of year $118,598,895 $102,035,991 

 

12. Provincial legislative grants: 

Under Public Sector Accounting Standards the entity that determines and sets the tax levy records 

the revenue in their consolidated financial statements. As a result, property tax revenue received 

from the municipalities is recorded as part of Provincial legislative grants in the amount of 

$85,829,995 (2016 - $85,297,338). 
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13. Expenses: 

The following is a summary of the current expenses reported on the Consolidated Statement of 

Operations by object: 

 

  2017   
 Budget 2017 2016 
Note 1(k) Actual Actual 

 
Salary and wages $ 251,073,776 $ 255,734,243 $ 246,968,501 
Employee benefits  42,662,271  42,750,662  42,817,028 
Staff development  886,794  863,614  919,139 
Supplies and services  37,539,869  36,295,063  36,827,156 
Interest  9,424,952  9,424,454  9,946,493 
Rental expense  3,234,499  3,529,365  3,140,396 
Fees and contract services  13,702,539  14,108,909  12,259,601 
Other   922,877  1,350,497  1,130,219 
Amortization of tangible capital assets  16,365,047  16,388,838  15,864,140 

  $ 375,812,624 $ 380,445,645 $ 369,872,673 
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14. Partnership in Halton Student Transportation Services: 

On September 1, 2007, the Board entered into an agreement with Halton District School Board, Le 

Conseil scolaire de district Catholique due Centre-Sud and Le Conseil scolaire de district due 

Centre-Sud-Ouest to provide common administration of student transportation services.  On 

February 10, 2009, Service de Transport des Eleves de Halton/Halton Student Transportation 

Services (“HSTS”) was incorporated under the Corporations Act of Ontario. A revised agreement 

dated April 17, 2009 was created in an effort to increase delivery efficiency and cost effectiveness 

of student transportation for each of the School Boards.  Each Board participates in the shared 

costs associated with this service for the transportation of their respective students through HSTS.   

Effective September 1, 2013, two school boards have left the partnership and the partnership is 

supplying services exclusively to Halton District School Board and the Board.  

HSTS is proportionately consolidated in the Board’s consolidated financial statements whereby the 

Board’s pro-rata share of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of the consortium are included 

in the Board’s consolidated financial statements.  Inter-organizational transactions and balances 

have been eliminated. 

The following provides condensed financial information: 

 

  2017 2016 

   Total Board portion   Total Board portion 

 
Financial Position: 
 Financial assets $ 71,877 $ 24,644 $ 300,374 $ 100,590 
 Financial liabilities  (102,151)  (35,024)   (323,446) (108,317) 

Non-financial assets  31,034  10,641   23,832 7,982 
 

Accumulated surplus $ 760 $ 261 $  760 $ 255 
 

 
Operations: 
 Revenues $ 21,419,216 $ 7,343,978 $ 19,978,054 $ 6,690,314 
 Expenses  (21,419,216)  (7,343,978)   (19,978,054) (6,690,314) 
 

Accumulated surplus $ - $ - $  - $ - 
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15. Ontario School Board Insurance Exchange (OSBIE): 

The school board is a member of the Ontario School Board Insurance Exchange (OSBIE), a 

reciprocal insurance company licensed under the Insurance Act.  OSBIE insures general public 

liability, property damage and certain other risks. Liability insurance is available to a maximum of 

$24,000,000 per occurrence. 

The ultimate premiums over a one year period are based on the reciprocal’s and the Board’s actual 

claims experience.  Periodically, the Board may receive a refund or be asked to pay an additional 

premium based on its pro rata share of claims experience.  The current one year term expires 

January 1, 2018. 

16. Contractual obligations and contingent liabilities: 

(i) The Board has obligations under operating leases that require annual lease payments in the 

following amounts: 

 

 

2017/18  $ 3,041,086 
2018/19   2,732,656 
2019/20   1,886,491 
2020/21    649,857 
2021/22 and thereafter    548,457 

   

 

(ii) The Board was contingently liable under letters of credit issued to municipalities with respect 

to construction projects in the amount of $2,013,540 (2016 - $2,198,009). 

(iii) The nature of the Board activities is such that there is usually litigation pending or in the 

prospect at any time.  With respect to claims at August 31, 2017, management believes that 

the Board has valid defenses and appropriate insurance coverage in place.  In the event 

claims are successful, management believes that such claims are not expected to have a 

material effect on the Board’s financial position. 

(iv) The Board, in the normal course of business, enters into commodities contracts, in order to 

fix the price of commodities to be acquired in the future. The Board has entered into these 

contracts in conjunction with two consortiums which includes other school boards. 

 

17. Budget data: 

The budget data presented in these consolidated financial statements is based upon the 2017 

original budget approved by the Board on June 21, 2016.  
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18. Repayment of “55 School Board Trust” funding: 

On June 1, 2003, the Board received $635,000 from The 55 School Board Trust for its capital 

related debt eligible for provincial funding support pursuant to a 30-year agreement it entered into 

with the trust.  The 55 School Board Trust was created to refinance the outstanding not permanently 

financed (NPF) debt of participating boards who are beneficiaries of the trust.  Under the terms of 

the agreement, The 55 School Board Trust repaid the Board’s debt in consideration for the 

assignment by the Board to the trust of future provincial grants payable to the Board in respect of 

the NPF debt. 

As a result of the above agreement, the liability in respect of the NPF debt is not reflected in the 

Board’s financial position. 
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Halton Catholic District School Board

2016-2017 Year-End Schedule

Date (2017) Completed Item Description of Activity

March 31st ✓  Ministry Memorandum 2017: SB:06 March 31, 2016 Financial Reporting Requirements (Seven-Month Report - Sept. 2016 to March 2017)

April 12th  ✓  Ministry Memorandum 2017: B04 Established Financial Statements due date of November 15, 2017

April 21st ✓  Ministry Memorandum 2017: SB:09 2017-18 Estimates

May 15th ✓  Ministry Memorandum 2017: SB:06 Seven-Month Report (Sept. 2016 to March 2017) Submitted to the Ministry

June 6th ✓  Ministry Memorandum 2017: SB:06 Seven-Month Report (Sept. 2016 to March 2017) Submitted to the Board

June 12th ✓ Audit Committee - Audit Planning Report KPMG presents audit planning report at the Audit Committee meeting. 

June 19th ✓ SBCI Actuarial Valuation 
Receipt of SBCI Templates and PSAB Reporting Updates, and Commencement of Compilation of 

Data

August 29th ✓ Business Services Memorandum #03 (17-18) Year-End Procedures Memorandum sent to all schools and departments 

August 29th ✓ Business Services Memorandum #04 (17-18)
Year-End Rollover Procedures and Training Information for School Generated Funds sent to the 

schools 

August 29th ✓ Business Services Memorandum #05 (17-18) School Generated Funds Audit Checklist 2016-17 (sent to all Principals)

August 29th ✓ Business Services Memorandum #09 (17-18) Bank Account & Fraud Inquiry (sent to all Superintendents and Central Office Administrators)

September 7th ✓  Ministry Memorandum 2017: SB:25 Release of Ministry Financial Statement Forms (EFIS) and TCA/CAPT Information

September 14th ✓ Annual Audit Plan from KPMG To the Audit Committee (with this schedule and Ministry Memorandum 2017: SB25 included)

September 15th ✓ Annual Ministry Information Sessions Financial Statement In-Service (external auditors)

September 15th ✓ Annual Ministry Information Sessions Financial Statement In-Service (school board finance personnel)

September 18th ✓ KPMG Interim Audit Field Work Process analysis, control testing, documentation review and confirmations sent out (during this week)

September 18th ✓  Ministry Memorandum 2017: SB:28 EFIS Enrolment Verification email sent to the Finance Office IF enrolment needs update

September 25th ✓ Ministry EFIS Forms update Ministry released updates to various EFIS forms and calculations

October 3rd ✓ Annual Audit Plan from KPMG To the Board (with this schedule and Ministry Memorandum 2017:SBXX included)

October 10th ✓ KPMG Year-End Audit Field Work Individual school and enrolment audits (during this week) - Six schools selected randomly

October 14th ✓ SBCI Draft Report-Employee Future Benefits Draft SBCI actuarial valuation report of employee future benefits

October 21st ✓ SBCI Final Report-Employee Future Benefits Final SBCI actuarial valuation report on employee future benefits

October 16th ✓ KPMG Year-End Audit Field Work KPMG staff on site during this week

October 23rd ✓ KPMG Year-End Audit Field Work KPMG staff on site during this week

October 30th ✓ KPMG Year-End Audit Field Work KPMG staff on site during this week

November 13th ✓ KPMG Year-End Audit Field Work Finance Staff Meeting with KPMG to review Draft Audited Financial Statements and Audit Findings 

November 14th ✓  Ministry Memorandum 2017: SB:25 Activation of completed EFIS Forms by Superintendent of Business

November 16th Draft Audited Financial Statements Audit Committee Approval and Presentation of Audit Findings Report 

November 21st Draft Audited Financial Statements Board Approval

November 22nd  Ministry Memorandum 2017: SB:25
Submission of Ministry Financial Statement Forms (EFIS) & Final Audited Financial Statements 

(signed)

November 24th Final Audited Financial Statements Place on Board's Public Website and Staffnet (signed)

November 24th Final Audited Financial Statements Publish notice in local newspapers [in accordance with Section 252(2) of the Education Act]

November 30th  Ministry Memorandum 2017: SB:25 Submission of completed Capital Analysis and Planning Template (CAPT) to the Ministry

Est. December 12th Management Letter (Draft) Draft Management Letter received from KPMG

Est. January 19th Management Letter (Final) Receive Final Management Letter from KPMG

Est. January 30th Management Letter (Draft) Present Draft Management Letter with management responses at Administrative Council

Est. February 2nd Management Letter (Final) Send the Management Letter with management responses to the Audit Committee

Est. February 9th Management Letter (Final)
Send Final Management Letter to all Principals/Vice-Principals through numbered Business Services 

Memo

Est. February 9th Management Letter (Final)
Send the specific Management Letter points to the four selected schools and respective 

Superintendent 

Z:\5 - Financial reporting\Audit\Audit Committee & Internal Audit\Audit Committee Meetings\2017-2018\2017-11-16\Public\2017-YE Checklist
2017-11-14  4:26 PM
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Halton Catholic DSB Financial Statements

2

Standard 
Reports

The key statements

Show the changes 
from prior year to 
current year

Help explain or 
expand on 
information 
provided in the 
financial statements
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Statement of Financial Position

•

•




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Stmt of Financial Position - ASSETS

Cash $14.0 million

 $7.6 million from proceeds related to site sales, $3.4 million is the school 

generated funds (SGF) balance, and the remainder is the operating balance.

Accounts receivable $19.4 million (Note 2)

 $3.0 million receivable from Gov’t of Canada, primarily HST rebates ($1.4 million) 

and Federal Programs ($1.6 million), such as Language Instruction for Newcomers 

Canada (LINC) and Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada (IRCC),

 $2.8 million receivable from Gov’t of Ontario, mostly Grants for Student Needs 

(GSN) adjustments and Other Provincial Grants, 

 $11.4 million represents property taxes and Education Development Charges 

(EDC) revenue due from the 4 municipalities (approximately 2/3 of one quarterly 

payment), and

 $2.2 million in recoverable wages, community use of school facility receivables, 

year end deposits and employee computer purchase plan receivable.

4
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Stmt of Financial Position - ASSETS

Assets held for sale of $6.0 million (Note 3)

 Refers to a vacant land site, identified as surplus.

Long-term Receivable (Note 4)

 $179.5 million is the long term receivable due from the Province.

o One time receivable from the Province to recognize capital debt as at 

August 31, 2010,

o As we build schools and incur capital costs, this receivable will increase,

o As we pay off debentures and receive funding (2 times per year), this 

receivable will decrease,

o The long-term receivable is $17.8 million lower than 2015-16. The change 

is made up of:

• $8.2 million decrease in capital projects; primarily relating to the completion of 

St. Gregory the Great Catholic Elementary School,

• $9.6 million capital debt principal repayment on supported debentures. 

5
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Stmt of Financial Position - LIABILITIES

Temporary borrowing of $42.0 (Note 5), made up of:

 $42.0 million loan to cover the EDC funding timing shortfall,

 $12,800 for Employee Computer Purchase Loans,

 Lower by $14.5 million from 2015-16, change due to:

o $12.4 Million repayment for St. Gregory the Great capital loan and Holy 

Rosary (Milton) capital loan,

o $2.1 net change in EDC loan.

6
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Stmt of Financial Position - LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

 $17.5 million, primarily:

o $0.1 million payable to Gov’t of Ontario (EPO grant payable),

o $8.4 million outstanding invoices relating to the capital construction and 

other supplies and services,

o $2.7 million in accrued interest,

o $0.7 million vacation accrual,

o $5.0 million in other payroll liabilities (incl. salary accruals, LTD, OMERS, 

OHIP, deferred salary leave plan, union dues, etc.),

o $0.6 million in earned leave program.

7
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Stmt of Financial Position - LIABILITIES

Deferred Revenue (Note 6)

 $15.9 million, including:

o Special Education (special equipment amount) $1.8 million,

o Proceed of Disposition $7.6 million,

o Retrofit for Child Care $1.0 million,

o School Renewal $1.3 million,

o Temporary Accommodation $0.2 million,

o Other deferred revenue mainly for international students and other 

ministry programs $4.0 million,

8
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Stmt of Financial Position - LIABILITIES

Employee Benefits Payable (Note 7)

 Accounting number determined by actuaries ($6.0 million),

 $0.6 million decrease from prior year as a result of changes in the 

discount rate which lead to a decrease in the gratuity liability and 

retirement health, dental and life insurance plans, long term disability 

and workers compensation benefits.

Employee Future Benefits (EFB) are comprised of:

 Gratuity Benefit Liability – frozen as at August 31, 2012 and amortized 

over 13.7 years (Employee Average Remaining Service Life - EARSL), 

 Post-Retirement Benefits – frozen as at August 31, 2013 and amortized 

over 10 years,

 Other (i.e. WSIB , LTD Benefits),

 Compensated absences of $161,000 to top up sick days in 2016-17 (not 

amortized).

9
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Stmt of Financial Position - LIABILITIES

Net Long-Term Liabilities (Note 8)

 Comprised of:

o Supported debentures of $170.8 million (included in Long-Term 

Receivable explained on slide 5),

o Unsupported debt of $10.3 million (leading to the gap between 

amortization of tangible capital assets (TCA) and amortization of DCC 

explained on slide 12). 

 Change in prior year of $10.6 million is a result of:

o Repayment of capital debt principal on supported debt of $9.6 million,

o Repayment of capital debt principal on unsupported debt of $1.0 million.

10
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Stmt of Financial Position - LIABILITIES

Deferred Capital Contributions (Note 9)

 Increase of $2.7 million from prior year, as a result of increased 

capital expenditures.

o As we build and renovate schools, we incur capital costs and this balance 

increases to cover for future amortization,

o As we amortize TCAs, deferred capital contributions are reduced as a 

source of revenue for amortization expense.

Amortization of TCAs = $16.4 million

Amortization of DCC = $15.1 million

Difference (Unsupported Capital) = $1.3 million

11
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Stmt of Financial Position - LIABILITIES

Tangible Capital Assets 

 Break down provided in Note 10 to the financial statements.

 Most of the changes on the Statement of Financial Position relate to 

TCA (as shown on the Statement of Change in Net Debt and 

Statement of Cash Flows).

o Temporary borrowing increases with spending on capital projects and 

decreases as funding is received from the province,

o Long-term receivable also increases as capital spending occurs and 

decreases as funding is received from the province to fund capital 

projects in progress,

o DCC increases as more schools are constructed, renovated or assets are 

acquired and decreases as TCAs are being amortized.

12
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Stmt of Financial Position–ACCUMULATED

SURPLUS (Note 11)

13

This represents the 
accumulated operating 
surplus.  The change from prior 
year is the current operating 
surplus of $216,120.

This represents the total of 
amounts that are internally 
restricted by the Board.

Column1 At Aug 31, 2016 In-Year Change At Aug 31, 2017 

Non-Designated Surplus 330,396 216,120 546,516 

Amounts restricted for future Board use:

Operating Reserve 2,505,718 900,000 3,405,718 

School Budgets 285,455 (87,066) 198,389 

Indigenous Reserve - 27,873 27,873 

Capital Capacity Planning 70,533 - 70,533 

Committed Project Reserve - 234,180 234,180 

Committed Capital Interest Earned 1,596,373 (76,382) 1,519,991 

Committed Capital Projects 8,129,031 (165,291) 7,963,740 

Facility Capital Reserve 5,383,537 2,000,649 7,384,186 

17,970,647 2,833,963 20,804,610 

Total Accumulated Surplus Available for 

Compliance
18,301,043 3,050,083 21,351,126 

Amounts to be recovered:

Employee Future Benefits (5,136,250) 458,219 (4,678,031)

Interest to be Accrued (2,821,514) 158,751 (2,662,763)

(7,957,764) 616,970 (7,340,794)

Other:

School Generated Funds 3,166,515 188,513 3,355,028 

Revenues recognized for land 88,526,197 12,707,338 101,233,535 

91,692,712 12,895,851 104,588,563 

Total Accumulated Surplus (Deficit) 102,035,991 16,562,904 118,598,895 

This represents closing balance of 
Operating Reserve.
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Stmt of Financial Position–ACCUMULATED

SURPLUS (Note 11)

14

Represents the interest portion 
of the Board’s sinking fund 
assets used to fund capital 
projects

This amount is an offset to 
the actuarial amounts 
recorded as liabilities

Represents the committed 
Facility Capital Reserve
used to complement the 
funding of capital projects

At Aug 31, 2016 In-Year Change At Aug 31, 2017 

Non-Designated Surplus 330,396 216,120 546,516 

Amounts restricted for future Board use:

Operating Reserve 2,505,718 900,000 3,405,718 

School Budgets 285,455 (87,066) 198,389 

Indigenous Reserve - 27,873 27,873 

Capital Capacity Planning 70,533 - 70,533 

Committed Project Reserve - 234,180 234,180 

Committed Capital Interest Earned 1,596,373 (76,382) 1,519,991 

Committed Capital Projects 8,129,031 (165,291) 7,963,740 

Facility Capital Reserve 5,383,537 2,000,649 7,384,186 

17,970,647 2,833,963 20,804,610 

Total Accumulated Surplus Available for 

Compliance
18,301,043 3,050,083 21,351,126 

Amounts to be recovered:

Employee Future Benefits (5,136,250) 458,219 (4,678,031)

Interest to be Accrued (2,821,514) 158,751 (2,662,763)

(7,957,764) 616,970 (7,340,794)

Other:

School Generated Funds 3,166,515 188,513 3,355,028 

Revenues recognized for land 88,526,197 12,707,338 101,233,535 

91,692,712 12,895,851 104,588,563 

Total Accumulated Surplus (Deficit) 102,035,991 16,562,904 118,598,895 
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Stmt of Financial Position–ACCUMULATED

SURPLUS (Note 11)

15

Represents the interest accrual 
on debenture payments

Represents the EDC revenue 
that the Board has received 
for land purchases to date

Balance of SGF at the end of the 
year

At Aug 31, 2016 In-Year Change At Aug 31, 2017 

Non-Designated Surplus 330,396 216,120 546,516 

Amounts restricted for future Board use:

Operating Reserve 2,505,718 900,000 3,405,718 

School Budgets 285,455 (87,066) 198,389 

Indigenous Reserve - 27,873 27,873 

Capital Capacity Planning 70,533 - 70,533 

Committed Project Reserve - 234,180 234,180 

Committed Capital Interest Earned 1,596,373 (76,382) 1,519,991 

Committed Capital Projects 8,129,031 (165,291) 7,963,740 

Facility Capital Reserve 5,383,537 2,000,649 7,384,186 

17,970,647 2,833,963 20,804,610 

Total Accumulated Surplus Available for 

Compliance
18,301,043 3,050,083 21,351,126 

Amounts to be recovered:

Employee Future Benefits (5,136,250) 458,219 (4,678,031)

Interest to be Accrued (2,821,514) 158,751 (2,662,763)

(7,957,764) 616,970 (7,340,794)

Other:

School Generated Funds 3,166,515 188,513 3,355,028 

Revenues recognized for land 88,526,197 12,707,338 101,233,535 

91,692,712 12,895,851 104,588,563 

Total Accumulated Surplus (Deficit) 102,035,991 16,562,904 118,598,895 177



Statement of Operations

Statement of Operations – Key Areas

 This statement shows all the revenues and expenses of the Board for 

the year.

 When looking at this statement, we should look at the following:

o Revenues compared to expenses (annual surplus),

o Current year compared to the ORIGINAL budget,

o Current year compared to the PRIOR YEAR financial statements. 

16
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Statement of Operations - REVENUE

$12.9 million more than the ORIGINAL budget

 $4.2 million more in grant revenue

o Increased enrolment results in increases in Pupil Foundation, School 

Foundation, Special Education, Language, School Operations and 

Transportation grant.

 $1.0 million in “Other Provincial Grants” 

o This is the net effect of additional EPOs announced through the year.

 $0.7 million in “Federal Grants” 

o This relates to additional LINC and IRCC funding.

 $6.1 million in Other Revenue

o Net increases primarily due to rental income, International Student tuition, 

and an increase in Education Development Charges.

 $0.1 million more Investment income

 $0.2 million more in School Generated Funds revenue 

 $0.6 million in Deferred Capital Contribution for past items

17
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Statement of Operations - REVENUE

$22.8 million more than the PRIOR YEAR Financial Statements

 $9.5 million more in grant revenue

o Increased enrolment results in increases in Pupil Foundation, School 

Foundation, Special Education, Language, and School Operations grant.

 $0.9 million in “Other Provincial Grants” 

o This is the net effect of additional EPOs announced through the year.

 $0.7 million in “Federal Grants” 

o This relates to additional LINC and IRCC funding.

 $10.8 million in Other Revenue

o Net increases primarily due to EDC revenue, rental income, international 

student tuition.

 $0.1 million more Investment income

 $0.8 million in Deferred Capital Contribution for past items

18
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Statement of Operations - EXPENSES

$4.6 million more than the ORIGINAL budget

 Increase in enrolment correlates to increase in salary and 

benefits.

 Increase in SGF expenses similar to increase in SGF revenue.

 Increase in other provincial grants means proportionate 

increases in costs – mostly instruction.

19
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Statement of Operations - EXPENSES

$10.6 million more than the PRIOR YEAR Financial Statements

 Instruction increased $8.1 million

o Largest area of impact was salaries and wages, triggered by increase in 

enrolment

 Administration increased $0.7 million

o Salary increases, gratuity benefit, wage accrual, and increase in 

International Student staffing

 Transportation increased $0.6 million

o Growth and renewal of some contracts resulted in higher costs 

 Pupil Accommodation increased $1.2 million

o Increase in amortization and contract services expense

 Other increased by $0.2 million

o Due to asset disposal (offset of $0.2 million in revenue; Therefore net 

impact is nil)

 School Generated Funds expense decreased by $0.2 million

20
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Statement of Operations – ANNUAL 

SURPLUS (DEFICIT)
Represents the difference between revenues and expenses.

 $16.6 Surplus in the current year

o Includes an in-year operating surplus of $0.2 million,

o Includes $0.8 million of transfers into various reserves and 

committed capital projects,

o Includes $2.0 million transfer into capital reserve,

o Includes $0.5 million actuarial amortization recorded as a 

decrease in benefits,

o Includes $0.2 million accrued interest,

o Includes $0.2 million in SGF,

o Includes $12.7 million of EDC revenue with no corresponding 

expenses (recorded as tangible capital assets).
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Statement of Operations – ANNUAL 

SURPLUS (DEFICIT)
Overall annual surplus of $16.6 million must be allocated by the 

Board to the components that make up the Accumulated Surplus

 Some of this is prescriptive:

o EDC revenue must be allocated to “Revenue Recognized for 

Land”,

o Reduction in employee future benefits as determined by actuarial 

valuations.

 Some of this is at the discretion of the Board:

o Permit revenue for the community use of artificial turf is 

transferred to build up the capital reserve.

22
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Statement of Operations –

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS

23

The prior year accumulated surplus plus the current 
year surplus equals the current year accumulated 
surplus (as outlined in the Statement of Operations)

The “Accumulated Surplus” on the “Stmt of 
Operations” is the “Accumulated Surplus” 
on the “Stmt of Financial Position” as per 
Note 11

Prior Year Accumulated Surplus 102,035,991

Current Year Surplus 16,562,904

Current Year Accumulated Surplus 118,598,895

Non-designated surplus 546,516

Amounts restricted for future use of the Board:

Working funds 3,405,718

Capital Capacity Planning 70,533

School budgets 198,389

Indigenous Studies 27,873

Board Commitments 234,180

Facility Capital Reserve 7,384,186

Committed capital interest earned 1,519,991

Committed capital projects 7,963,740

20,804,610

Amounts to be recovered:

Employee future benefits -4,678,031

Interest accrual -2,662,763

-7,340,794

Other:

School generated funds 3,355,028

Revenues recognized for land 101,233,535

104,588,563

Current Year Accumulated Surplus 118,598,895
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Audit Committee Report to the Board of Trustees  Page 1 of 1 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

190



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

191



 

 

 .  

 

 

 

 

 

 Nothing to report  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

192



 

 

 

193


	Agenda
	1.1 Board Prayer November 21 2017.pdf
	Return to Agenda

	6.1 BOARD_11_07_2017_MINUTES.pdf
	Return to Agenda

	7.1 7_1 Business Arising.pdf
	Return to Agenda

	8.1 8_1 French Ad Hoc Final Recommendation.pdf
	Return to Agenda

	8.2 8_2 Notice of Motion - Upholding the Sanctity of Life.pdf
	Return to Agenda

	8.3 8_3 2016-17 Draft Audited Financial Statements(c).pdf
	Return to Agenda

	8.3 2016-17 Financial Statements-Understanding the Results.pdf
	Return to Agenda

	10.2 10_2 School Educational Field Trips.pdf
	Return to Agenda

	10.3 10_3 HSTS Update Bell Time Efficiency.pdf
	Return to Agenda

	10.4 10_4 Audit Committee Report to the Board of Trustees.pdf
	Return to Agenda

	11.1 CPIC_2017_10_02 MINUTES.pdf
	Return to Agenda


